
Rutland County Council                  
Catmose, Oakham, Rutland, LE15 6HP
Telephone 01572 722577 Facsimile 01572 758307 DX28340 Oakham

      

Meeting: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY PANEL

Date and Time: Thursday, 22 November 2018 at 7.00 pm

Venue: COUNCIL CHAMBER, CATMOSE

Clerk to the Panel: Joanna Morley 01572 758271
email: governance@rutland.gov.uk

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, 
take photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that 
is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is available at www.rutland.gov.uk/my-
council/have-your-say/

A G E N D A

1) APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2) RECORD OF MEETING 
To confirm the record of the meeting of the Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Panel held on 20 September 2018 (previously circulated).

3) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
In accordance with the Regulations, Members are invited to declare any personal 
or prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of those interests in respect 
of items on this Agenda and/or indicate if Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 applies to them.

4) PETITIONS, DEPUTATIONS AND QUESTIONS 
To receive any petitions, deputations and questions received from Members of 
the Public in accordance with the provisions of Procedure Rule 217.

The total time allowed for this item shall be 30 minutes. Petitions, declarations 
and questions shall be dealt with in the order in which they are received.  
Questions may also be submitted at short notice by giving a written copy to the 
Committee Administrator 15 minutes before the start of the meeting.

Public Document Pack

mailto:governance@rutland.gov.uk
http://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-council/have-your-say/
http://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-council/have-your-say/


The total time allowed for questions at short notice is 15 minutes out of the total 
time of 30 minutes. Any petitions, deputations and questions that have been 
submitted with prior formal notice will take precedence over questions submitted 
at short notice.  Any questions that are not considered within the time limit shall 
receive a written response after the meeting and be the subject of a report to the 
next meeting.

5) QUESTIONS WITH NOTICE FROM MEMBERS 
To consider any questions with notice from Members received in accordance with 
the provisions of Procedure Rules No 219 and No. 219A.

6) NOTICES OF MOTION FROM MEMBERS 
To consider any Notices of Motion from Members submitted in accordance with 
the provisions of Procedure Rule No 220.

7) CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE PANEL FOR A 
DECISION IN RELATION TO CALL IN OF A DECISION 
To consider any matter referred to the Panel for a decision in relation to call in of 
a decision in accordance with Procedure Rule 206.

SCRUTINY 
Scrutiny provides the appropriate mechanism and forum for members to ask any 
questions which relate to this Scrutiny Panel’s remit and items on this Agenda.

8) CHILD EXPLOITATION AND MODERN SLAVERY 60 min
To receive a presentation from Mrs C Smith, Head of Children’s Social Care.

9) RUTLAND COUNTY COUNCIL SAFEGUARDING THROUGH 
EDUCATION REPORT 2017-2018 

30 min

To receive Report No. 204/2018 from the Strategic Director for People and to 
receive a presentation from Mrs G Curtis, Head of Learning and Skills and Ms K 
Bland, Early Education and Safeguarding Through Education Advisor.

(Pages 5 - 30)



ITEMS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 
The following items are for information only.

Feedback for the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) annual report, the 
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) annual report and the Child Protection Service 
annual report can be sent to:
Mrs C Smith, Head of Children’s Social Care (csmith@rutland.gov.uk) 

Feedback on the Quarter 2 Financial Management Report can be sent to:
Mr S Della Rocca, Strategic Director for Resources (sdrocca@rutland.gov.uk) 

10) LOCAL AUTHORITY DESIGNATED OFFICER (LADO): ANNUAL REPORT 
To receive Report No. 205/2018 from the Strategic Director for People.
(Pages 31 - 40)

11) INDEPENDENT REVIEW SERVICE FOR CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER - 
ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 
To receive Report No. 206/2018 from the Strategic Director for People.

(Pages 41 - 74)

12) CHILD PROTECTION SERVICE: ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18 
To receive Report No. 207/2018 from the Strategic Director for People.

(Pages 75 - 98)

13) QUARTER 2 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT 
To receive Report No.193/2018 from the Strategic Director for Resources.

(Report circulated under separate cover)

14) REVIEW OF FORWARD PLAN AND ANNUAL WORK PLAN 2018-2019 

To consider the current Forward Plan and identify any relevant items for 
inclusion in the Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel annual work plan, 
or to request further information.

Copies of the annual work plan and the latest Forward Plan will be available 
at the meeting. The Forward Plan can be found on the website using the 
following link:

https://rutlandcounty.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlanItems.aspx?PlanId=185&RP=133

mailto:csmith@rutland.gov.uk
mailto:sdrocca@rutland.gov.uk
https://rutlandcounty.moderngov.co.uk/mgListPlanItems.aspx?PlanId=185&RP=133


15) ANY OTHER URGENT  BUSINESS 
To receive any other items of urgent business which have been previously 
notified to the person presiding

16) DATE AND PREVIEW OF NEXT MEETING 
Scrutiny Panel Budget Meeting

23 January 2018 at 7pm 
24 January 2018 at 7pm 

Regular Scrutiny Panel Meeting

31 January 2018 at 7pm

---oOo---

TO: ELECTED MEMBERS OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY 
PANEL

Ms R Burkitt (Chairman)

Mr I Arnold Mr E Baines
Mr K Bool Mr A Lowe
Mr M Oxley Mr A Menzies

OTHER MEMBERS FOR INFORMATION



Report No: 204/2018
PUBLIC REPORT

SCRUTINY PANEL
22nd November 2018

RUTLAND COUNTY COUNCIL SAFEGUARDING THROUGH 
EDUCATION REPORT 2017-18

Report of the Strategic Director for People

Strategic Aim: Safeguarding

Exempt Information No.

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Cllr D Wilby, Portfolio Holder for Education

Contact Officer(s): Gill Curtis
Head of Learning and Skills

Telephone: 01572 758460
Email: gcurtis@rutland.gov.uk

Karen Bland
Early Education and Safeguarding 
Through Education Advisor

Telephone: 01572 758235
Email: kbland@utland.gov.uk

Ward Councillors N/A

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Panel:

1. Notes the actions and priorities for Safeguarding through Education identified within 
the report.

2. Provides feedback on planned actions identified through review of current practice 
and procedures

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 All Local Authorities have an overarching responsibility for safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of all children and young people in their area. Section 11 of 
the Children Act 2004 places duties on a range of organisations and individuals to 
‘ensure their functions, and any services that they contract out to others, are 
discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children’. The 2018 updated DfE guidance ‘Keeping Children Safe in Education’ 
clearly sets out the statutory responsibilities of all schools, including maintained 
schools, academies and the independent sector.

1.2 This report aims to provide the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Panel with 
assurance that there is a comprehensive approach by the Learning and Skills 

5

Agenda Item 9

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


Service that contributes to the Council meeting these Section 11 requirements.  This 
is achieved through supporting and promoting the knowledge and understanding of 
safeguarding for staff working in Rutland early years' settings, all schools and 
wraparound and holiday childcare.

1.3 An annual review of the effectiveness of safeguarding through education activity is 
undertaken and this report identifies where this is working well and sets out planned 
actions for addressing any areas of concern.

1.4 PLEASE NOTE: This report will be accompanied by a presentation to the Panel.

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

2.1 Her Majesty’s Government’s guidance ‘Working together to safeguard children – a 
guide to inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of children’ 
(July 2018) sets out the local authority’s responsibility for safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of all children and young people in their area. 

2.2 Rutland County Council’s Learning and Skills Service contributes to safeguarding 
processes and procedures in education settings across Rutland through the delivery 
or commissioning of training programmes and by issuing guidance and information 
updates. The Learning and Skills Service is not responsible for evaluating the 
effectiveness of safeguarding processes or procedures in schools and early years 
settings; this is the remit of Ofsted, the Regulatory Compliance (for Independent 
Schools) or Rutland’s Childminding Agency. The purpose of inspecting is to 
evaluate how well providers fulfil their statutory and other responsibilities and how 
well staff exercise their professional judgement in keeping children and learners 
safe. Should safeguarding concerns be raised to, or identified by, members of the 
Learning and Skills Service, these are escalated in line with Rutland County Council 
safeguarding procedures.

2.3 The Learning and Skills Service works in partnership with Children’s Social Care to 
ensure that the information being provided and the training offered remains current 
and reflects the very latest statutory guidance and recommendations, as well as 
taking in to account findings from local and regional incidents and concerns.

2.4 In order to support all providers in maintaining provision which focuses on the safety 
and well-being of the children and young people in their care, the Learning and Skills 
Service undertakes routine reviews which include the annual audit of safeguarding 
through education. The questions asked within this audit are agreed through 
consultation with the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) and are adjusted 
each year to reflect changes to national legislation and guidelines or areas of 
concern which have been raised locally or regionally.  

2.5 The audit is an on-line questionnaire which is sent to Rutland state-funded and 
independent schools, early years’ providers and wraparound and holiday childcare 
providers. Cross border education providers for children with SEND and children 
looked after were invited to compete the 2018 safeguarding audit. Results from the 
audit are analysed and key outcomes are fed back to responders, the outcomes 
also inform future actions for the Learning and Skills Service.

6



2.6 The outcomes of the 2017-18 audit indicate that whilst there are no significant 
concerns from participants of the audit it is essential that safeguarding continues to 
remain a high priority for all those who work with children and young people.  

2.7 The audit has provided a systematic approach to gathering safeguarding 
information. Analysis of the audit has generated a relevant and cohesive training 
package, delivered in partnership with the Local Authority Designated Officer 
(LADO), Children’s Social Care, Community Safety Representatives and Rutland 
Teaching School Alliance to all Rutland schools and early years’ providers, inclusive 
of wraparound and holiday childcare providers. 

2.8 Further review, including the Safeguarding through Education audit 2019, will be 
undertaken by the Learning and Skills Service to ensure that areas for development 
identified through the 2018 audit have been addressed and actions taken are 
impacting on the work of schools and early years’ providers in the safeguarding of 
children and young people in Rutland.

3 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE 
RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 This report provides elected members with an overview of the activities undertaken 
by the Learning and Skills Service, in partnership with Children’s’ Social Care, to 
provide all childcare providers and school staff with training and guidance, so that 
they know and understand how to keep the children in their care safe and from harm.

3.2 Through regular review of this aspect of the Learning and Skills Service role, 
assurances are made regarding the effectiveness of the work undertaken and 
enable planned actions to be timely, relevant and leading to continued quality of 
support for education providers.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

4.1   There are no additional background papers to the report.

5. APPENDICES 

Appendix A:Rutland County Council Safeguarding through Education Report 
2017-18

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577. 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



Safeguarding Through Education 

2017-18

9



2

1. Introduction: The role of the Local Authority

2. Safeguarding Through Education: training support and advice.

3. Evidence of impact

4. Safeguarding Through Education Audit 2017-18

5. Safeguarding Through Education - Recommendations and future 
plans

6. Conclusion

Appendices

Appendix A Useful acronyms

Appendix B          Safeguarding training offered 2017-18 

Appendix C Completed Key Actions Early Years / Schools 2017-18

Appendix D Key Actions 2018-19

10



3

1.1 HM Government’s guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children – is a guide 
to inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of children” (Sept 
2015). This document identifies that local authorities have overarching responsibility 
for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of all children and young people in their 
area. 

1.2 Rutland Learning and Skills service contributes to the effectiveness of safeguarding 
and processes in education settings in Rutland through the promotion of 
safeguarding of all children and young people. Through a programme of support 
and guidance, education settings can be well equipped to ensure that they are 
meeting their safeguarding requirements.  

1.3 The Rutland Learning and Skills service monitor and evaluate education 
effectiveness including termly Quality Assurance desk-top reviews and visits. 
Indicators for prioritisation of risk are detailed in the Learning and Skills service 
Education Provider Prioritisation and Entitlement 2018-19.  Feedback from visits to 
education settings by other Council staff, including members of the Special 
Education Needs and/ or Disabilities (SEND) and Inclusion team, Early Help, 
Children and Adult Social Care and youth workers are also taken into account; all 
safeguarding issues are processed according to school and the local authority 
agreed procedures.

1.4 The promotion of attendance at training remains a key factor and, through greater 
co-ordination, duplication of content across different training events has been 
reduced whilst still ensuring key issues are being addressed. Where relevant, the 
Rutland Learning and Skills service make it a priority to understand reasons for non-
attendance at training events, remaining responsive to requests for training and  
flexible in terms of times and dates.  It is recognised that Multi Academy Trusts may 
have their own programme of Safeguarding training and updates; in these cases the 
Learning and Skills Service will seek assurance that training is completed.

1.5 Ofsted (for early years providers, including Rutland’s Childminding Agency and 
state-funded maintained schools and academies) and Regulatory Compliance (for 
independent schools) inspection reports are analysed when published to determine 
any potential safeguarding concerns. In judging the effectiveness of leadership and 
management, Ofsted must also judge whether the schools and settings 
arrangements for safeguarding pupils are effective, and whether those responsible 
for governance ensure that these arrangements are effective.

11



4

2.1 Rutland Learning and Skills service promotes effective safeguarding processes 
through education and its work with all education settings, including the independent 
sector. The Service works in partnership with Children’s Social Care and Community 
Safety to offer information, advice and where required, to either deliver, broker or 
commission training which is available at little or no cost to all education settings in 
Rutland. 

2.2 The programme of safeguarding training is delivered by local authority staff or 
commissioned as required to ensure training is relevant, good quality and offered at 
times and venues that can be accessed by education providers. 

2.3 Safeguarding guidance and updates are available on Rutland County Council 
website and schools have links to the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 
website http://lrsb.org.uk/children.

2.4 The Learning and Skills Education Bulletin is distributed to all Rutland early years’ 
settings and state-funded and independent schools and includes regular 
safeguarding updates and guidance as a standing item. The Bulletin provides 
current information, updates and signposting of local, regional and national 
initiatives or focus areas. In addition, Rutland Children’s services produce a termly 
safeguarding update which is sent out to all education settings including 
independent schools to provide up to date information. 

2.5 A programme of training and updates, on safeguarding, is provided for education 
staff and governors through LSCB, Rutland County Council and Rutland Teaching 
School Alliance training programmes. Additional training and guidance can be 
brokered or commissioned through regional Teaching School Alliances and other 
consultants or providers dependent on the topic of focus.  Schools are offered 
generic training opportunities through the Teaching School Alliance continued 
professional development offer. In 2017, previous focussed training from external 
providers has included GDPR, Safer Recruitment and Positive Handling (Appendix 
B).

2.6 In the early years, core training is provided for the LSCB by Rutland Adult Learning 

12

http://lrsb.org.uk/children


5

and Skills Service (RALSS).  Regular conferences and network meetings for early 
years’ providers include safeguarding as a prioritised agenda item and attention is 
drawn to current emerging priorities or serious case reviews linked to the LSCB. The 
Early Years’ service, supported by the National Day Nursery Association (NDNA) 
delivered safeguarding training at the annual managers’ day.  

2.7 The Community Safety Team has been proactive in forging links with schools and 
sharing information about the services they provide. A particular focus has been 
promoting the awareness of Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and leading a ‘Safety 
day’ event with parents.

2.8 The Early Years Foundation Stage annual visit has been evaluated and a more 
rigorous approach through a more regular ‘Keeping in Touch’ visit.  This revised 
approach includes a specific, evidence-based, focus on the settings’ processes for 
ensuring safeguarding including documenting identified Designated Safeguarding 
Lead (DSL) and reviewing the record of relevant and most recent training. The 
intention of this revised practice is to more effectively offer support and challenge to 
EYFS safeguarding practice. Initial feedback from providers has been positive and 
has already led to some changed practice in how recruitment checks and training 
undertaken is recorded centrally.

2.09 The Head of the Virtual School coordinates education support for children looked 
after (CLA) which includes identifying any safeguarding concerns through 
monitoring the CLA’s education progress and welfare.  Support and training are also 
provided to designated teachers, named governors, social workers and foster carers 
in order to achieve the best possible educational and welfare outcomes for CLA and 
children previously looked after. 

2.10 Rutland Learning and Skills Service safeguarding knowledge and skills are updated 
through access to training that is provided by Rutland colleagues and attendance at 
regional and national safeguarding meetings and conferences.

2.11 The Learning and Skills Service has purchased a one year subscription to 
CareKnowledge, an online service which provides up to date research and practice 
materials that enables all Rutland education providers to remain informed and 
updated on safeguarding and wider knowledge regarding the care of young children 
and people.

2.12 In autumn 2017, a Rutland County Council internal audit was undertaken to review 
safer recruitment processes in Rutland maintained schools.  The audit was designed 
to provide assurance that schools adopt a consistent and rigorous approach to 
recruitment and selection with the aim of reducing the risk of appointing unsuitable 
people to positions of trust.  The audit identified that all schools had safer recruitment 
policies in place and all had recently either strengthened procedures or had 
improved induction processes in relation to safeguarding.  However, during testing 
it was noted that there were a number of inconsistencies in approaches and 
templates across the maintained schools.  All schools were keen to implement the 
recommendations made in the audits and assurances through feedback from 
schools, evidenced through Governing Body minutes, are that the 
recommendations have been implemented.  This will be reviewed in the internal 
audit planned for autumn 2018.

13



6

3.1 The remit of Early Years Ofsted Inspections is to have regard for how well children 
are helped and protected so that they are kept safe.  Early years’ inspection outcomes 
report that all inspected Rutland settings have effective safeguarding arrangements 
for children.

3.2 Similarly, the remit of school Ofsted inspections is to report on the effectiveness of 
safeguarding arrangements. School inspection outcomes report that Rutland 
schools have effective safeguarding arrangements for children at the time of the 
inspection.  Comments in some of the most recent Ofsted reports include:

3.3  During the academic year 2017-18 a total of eight Ofsted inspections took place - five 
schools and three early years’ providers. One early years’ provider, Little Bloomers 
Day Nursery based at Kendrew Barracks, Cottesmore was judged inadequate in all 
areas. Although no significant safeguarding issues were identified, some concerns 
were raised over aspects of overall safety and welfare of children. The Authority 
followed statutory guidance and best practice and withdrew funding for those children 
accessing government entitlements. Although initially remaining in business, the 
manager took the decision to close the nursery in December 2017. 

3.4 During the year 2017-18 there has been one recorded safeguarding incident at an 
early years setting in the Oakham area. The day nursery had been inspected in 
December 2016 with an outcome of Good, however Rutland County Council 
became aware that subsequent concerns were being raised. An Ofsted investigation 
was instigated and the Learning and Skills service worked in partnership with the 
Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) and Ofsted in a complex investigation 
which resulted in Ofsted’s decision to issue a notice of intention to cancel the 
registration of the setting. The provider resigned their registration and the setting 

“Robust systems are in place. Training is up to 
date and regular reviews are carried out to check 
that requirements are fully met.”

“Governors are adept at 
checking out information for 
themselves - for example, the 
Safeguarding lead governor 
carries out spot checks and 
audits to ensure arrangements 
for safeguarding are robust.”

“There is a strong culture of safeguarding; the 
school makes thorough recruitment checks.” 

“All leaders and staff 
show a determined 
commitment to keeping 
pupils safe.” 

“Keeping children safe is given a high 
priority by leaders, so that staff create a 
safe and secure environment where 
pupils’ welfare is seen as important.”

“Systems and procedures 
for recording concerns are 
robust.”

“Pupils said that they 
feel safe at school.” 

“You and your staff make good use of 
outside agencies to provide pupils with 
guidance on how to stay safe.”

14



7

has subsequently closed.

15



8

4.1  In May 2018 the Safeguarding through Education audit 2017-18 was distributed to:

 Rutland state funded and independent schools,      

 Private Voluntary and Independent Early Years settings, and

 Wraparound and holiday childcare providers.                                                       

For the local authority to have assurances that safeguarding processes are in place 
for Rutland children who are educated out of county i.e. children with SEND and 
children looked after (CLA), cross border education providers were invited to 
complete the 2018 safeguarding audit.

4.2 The annual safeguarding audit is an on-line questionnaire. The timing of the audit 
has been adjusted following reflection of the 2017 survey timescales so that it was 
distributed earlier in the summer term, avoiding key test and examination times. This 
meant it was received where there was less pressure on time, particularly for 
schools.  

4.3 The audit is reviewed and updated each year to reflect changes in legislation and 
national and local emerging concerns therefore direct comparisons cannot be made 
with previous years. Every responder received a PDF of their audit response so that 
they can review their own responses and take appropriate action for their provision. 

4.4 The overall results are analysed by the Learning and Skills service so that key 
outcomes can be fed back to relevant providers and a strategic response can be 
developed for Rutland providers. Reference is also made to outcomes and actions 
from the 2017 survey to ensure no reoccurrence is evident (Refer to Appendices C, 

16



9

and D). 

4.5 The analysis indicates that Early Years’ settings remain compliant in meeting the 
‘safeguarding and welfare’ requirements of the Statutory Framework for the Early 
Years Foundation Stage. Scrutiny of the audit responses indicate an improved 
safeguarding awareness and application of safeguarding procedures. A similar 
outcome was noted for responding schools.

4.6 Safeguarding aspects of the 2017-18 audit include:

 Confirmation of names of designated safeguard leads with dates of DSL 
training and provider.

 Confirmation of reviewed Child Protection/Safeguarding Policies and 
Procedures

 Assurance that all staff and governors are familiar with statutory publications 
with identified dates

 Confirmation of when safeguarding training was undertaken or 
acknowledgment that updated guidance or training is required

 Safeguarding, Allegations Management and Safer Recruitment training 
including induction, dates and names of staff, governors or committee 
members who have completed training and how this information is recorded

 Online safety

 Children missing education / elective home education and Flexi-schooling

 Identification of connection with external agencies and/or services

 Protecting children with a disability

 Off-Site Educational visits

4.7 A total of seventy two completed responses were received, this is a significant 
increase compared with the previous year of twenty nine responses. The higher 
response outcome is due to both the combined raised profile of the safeguarding 
audit and greater engagement with education providers. These responses were 
from eighteen of the twenty-nine childminders, twelve of the fifteen early years’ 
settings; all five local authority maintained schools, thirteen of the sixteen Rutland 
academies/ free school and one of the three independent schools and one of the 
two independent special schools. Twenty two additional audit responses were 
received from Rutland Wraparound and holiday childcare providers and out of 
county SEND and CLA educational provisions. Future engagement activities and 
promotion of the audit will be planned to ensure numbers of survey responses 
continue to increase so that the information gathered is robust and reflective of 
practice across all Rutland providers. 

4.8 The findings from the audit has enabled swift identification of strengths and areas 
for delivery of updated training or guidance. Overall, the responses are very 
encouraging and have highlighted several areas of good practice:

17



10

 100% of all responders identified they had at least one named and trained 
Designated Safeguarding lead.

The table below illustrates the percentage and number of education providers 
confirming they had reviewed policies in the last 24 months.

Policy Percentage Number

Child Protection                                             
Behaviour Policy                                       
Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities / Inclusion Policy                                           
Health and Safety Policy

97%                                         
98%                                                   
93% 

                                                       
97%

70                                          
71                                                    
67  

70                                        

                  

 The range of adults working with children and young people i.e. premises 
officers, administration staff accessing statutory safeguarding awareness 
has increased since last year’s safeguarding survey.

The table below illustrates the percentage and number of education 
providers confirming they had accessed training in the last 24 months.

  Training Percentage Number

*Whole Staff Safeguarding 
awareness                                       
Prevent                                                     
Paediatric First Aid                                        
CSE                                                        
Online safety

94%    

97%                                          
100%                             
87%                               
82%

68

70                   
72                     
62                     
59

* 6% of childminders are sole workers and misinterpreted the ‘whole staff’ element of 
the question. This issue was followed up with the assurance that childminders 
accessed safeguarding awareness training.

Analysis of the safeguarding audit recognises across the whole education sector the 
requests for safeguarding training and updates.  Early years’ childcare providers are 
developing a deeper safeguarding awareness. It is a priority to continue promoting 

100% assurance that all staff and 
governors are familiar with statutory 
publications Working Together to 
Safeguard Children (2015), Keeping 
children safe in education (at least 
Part 1) (2016) and the Prevent Duty 
guidance for England and Wales 
2015.

18



11

safeguarding awareness through education bulletins, senior leader and other 
education training events. Training requests are highlighted in Appendix D.

4.9     Safeguarding allegations management / Recording Safer Recruitment processes for 
staff, governors and/or committee members is mainly on a single central record, or 
similar documentation. Newly recruited staff, governors or volunteers access 
statutory safeguarding training, additional safeguarding guidance and information 
though  induction programmes, sometimes these are led by the setting Designated 
Safeguarding Lead (DSL),  NSPCC training and through a range of online courses. 
In many cases part of the induction process involves access to reading policy and 
procedure documentation. Schools have procedures and policies in place to 
acknowledge the importance of Allegations Management and Safer Recruitment 
training. This aspect is not fully addressed by all early years’ providers and is a priority 
to continue. In November 2017, governors were invited to join the Designated 
Teacher Training Annual Event which included aspects of safeguarding for Children 
Looked After.

4.9.1    Online safety / Schools and settings report they have active internet filtering and anti- 
virus software on all IT equipment. Online safety is monitored closely by IT managers.

4.9.2   Whilst figures for children missing education training appear low, this is reflective of 
a high proportion within the early years’ sector not recognising the wider implication 
of children missing from home or care. This issue is being addressed through updated 
training at early years’ network and ‘Keeping in Touch’ visits.

4.9.3   Education providers recognise the value of partnership work. The services which   
education providers mostly engaged with over the last 12 months were Children’s 
Social Care and Early Help. This is particularly important with the introduction of the 
revised ‘Working together to safeguard children’ (2018) where processes for inter-
agency working to safeguard children are essential.

19



12

5.1 From the  72 completed responses of the safeguarding audit, indications are that 
there are no significant concerns placing children and young people directly at risk, 
or from any other indicators such as inspection outcomes, it is essential that 
safeguarding continues to remain a high priority for all those who work with children 
and young people.  A priority is to address any identified areas of concern within the 
Safeguarding through Education audit 2017-18.

5.2 The audit has provided a systematic approach to gathering information and 
therefore a proactive response to training requests such as restraint and positive 
handling.

5.3 A post has been developed within the Learning and Skills service to act as a 
champion to promote a cohesive approach to safeguarding through education and 
to ensure that all staff working in the education sector remain well-informed and 
have the relevant up to date knowledge and understanding to ensure the children in 
their care are kept safe. This officer will utilise the skills and expertise available 
across Rutland County Council and the wider area to the benefit of education 
settings and providers building on the current good practice in individual teams, 
departments and services who all individually interface with education settings and 
providers.

5.4 Education is one of the many contributors to ensuring and promoting safeguarding 
for children and young people. Over the last year, the shift from safeguarding in 
schools to safeguarding through education has improved the coordination of 
safeguarding practice with a greater impact within the education sector. A 
partnership has been developed across services within the local authority with 
assurances that safeguarding practices and procedures for all children and young 
people are in place.

5.5 The local authority, working in partnership with Rutland Teaching School Alliance 
will continue to deliver a focused safeguarding activity, led through Children’s Social 
Care team, in the termly Local Authority and Head Teacher Partnership events. All 
sectors and stakeholders indicated very positive responses to the 2017-18 
safeguarding events and is evident through greater engagement underpinned by a 
deeper knowledge and understanding of safeguarding responsibilities.

20



13

5.6 A programme of training will be delivered by local authority staff or commissioned 
as required to ensure training for all early years and Wraparound and holiday 
childcare providers is offered at times and venues that can be easily accessed. 
Higher presence at training events is evident when practitioners’ access replicated 
training at a time convenient to themselves i.e. the Early Education Safeguarding 
updates were offered both early evening midweek and on a Saturday morning.

5.7 It is vital that those responsible for governance of education provision are confident 
in being able to challenge and review the effectiveness the safeguarding processes 
within their school or setting. Governors will continue to be invited to training events.

  

5.8 Safeguarding information will continue to be collected annually from the early year’s 
sector, schools and colleges in order to monitor compliance and help in evaluating 
the impact of the safeguarding support being offered.  

5.9 Local authority representation at identified local, regional and national conferences, 
networks, strategic groups and meetings are essential to ensuring Rutland County 
Council colleagues remain well informed and are working with their professional 
partners in addressing both Safeguarding and other relevant actions and particularly 
important with the revised Keeping Children Safe in Education (2018) and Working 
Together to Safeguard Children (2018) publications.

5.10 In autumn 2018, an internal audit will be undertaken in maintained schools to review 
the recommendations made in the 2017 safer recruitment audit and to review 
whether the policies/processes in place at schools are fulfilling the expectations of 
statutory guidelines and whether those responsible for governance are exercising 
their duties in ensuring that these arrangements are working effectively.  This will 
not be an audit of specific child protection cases and will not be looking to provide 
an opinion on the effectiveness of safeguarding across the school. This offer will be 
made to academies at a reasonable cost.  Academies are asked to provide 
assurance of validation of current practices if they do not wish to engage with the 
audit.

21



14

6.1 Of the 72 responses that were scrutinised as part of the 2017-18 Safeguarding 
through Education Audit, no significant safeguarding concerns were raised. The 
promotion of attendance at training remains a key factor and, provides opportunity 
to bring key issues to the forefront. A priority will be for the Learning and Skills 
Service to continue to challenge and understand reasons for non-attendance at 
training events and ensure requests for training are met.

6.2 From September 2018, ‘Keeping Children Safe in Education’ (2018) is the statutory 
guidance that schools should follow.  This guidance has an emphasis on children 
with SEN and disabilities, those who were care leavers, and those children who 
were previously looked after. The guidance includes peer-on-peer abuse, sexual 
violence and sexual harassment. An interconnected training approach will ensure 
all education providers have relevant policies and practices to meet the needs of 
children and young adults in their community.

6.3 Two pieces of statutory safeguarding guidance which set the framework within 
which all practitioners should operate in order to protect children from abuse, neglect 
and promote their best interests are the revised ‘Working together to Safeguard 
Children’ (2018) and ‘Local Safeguarding- Transitional Arrangements. Both pieces 
of guidance provide the Learning and Skills Service with nationally agreed guidance 
which supports the direction for future programs of work. 

6.4 Safeguarding of all children and young people remains key to all those who work 
with them, and safeguarding through an effective education programme is essential 
to achieving this. 

22



15

Appendix A.  Useful acronyms 

CAF – common assessment framework

CLA – children looked after

CSE – child sexual exploitation

DSL – designated safeguard lead

EHA – early health assessment

FGM – female genital mutilation

LSCB – local safeguarding children’s board

NDNA – National Day Nursery Association

NEET – not in education, employment or training 

Ofsted – office for standards in education 

PREVENT - counter-terrorism activity 

PSHE – personal, social and health education 

RALSS – Rutland adult learning and skills service

RTA – Rutland Teaching Alliance

SEND – special educational needs and/ or disabilities

SENCo – special educational needs coordinator

SMSC – spiritual, moral, social and cultural (development)

YOT – youth offending team

YISP – youth inclusion support panel

23



16

Appendix B; Safeguarding Training offered through Rutland Local 
Authority during the academic year 2017-18.

Rutland County Council

Allegations Management                                        
Whole School Awareness Raising                          
PREVENT                                                           
Safeguarding Governor Training which clarified the 
local authority processes for raising concerns within 
education settings and enabled governors to gain 
confidence in evaluating school’s processes for referral

May 12th / 16th 2018 Early Education Safeguarding 
updates, topics included:                                                
EYFS Statutory framework, the safeguarding 
and welfare requirements.                                      
Understanding of safeguarding processes in 
Rutland                                                    
Overview of children’s social care                 
Allegations and role of the LADO              
Safeguarding children and escalation 
pathways                                                    
Safer recruitment                                         
Child exploitation and Domestic violence

Safeguarding compliance, capacity and safeguarding

May 2018  Safer Recruitment Safeguarding Training 

Rutland Adult Learning & Skills 
Service      (RALS)

Designated Safeguarding Lead / Refresher Designated 
Safeguarding Lead

NDNA January 2018 Safeguarding Annual Briefing  Early 
Years’ Managers Day

Team Teach June 2018 Positive Handing

Andrew Hall April 2018  Safer Recruitment

The ICT Service General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

March 2018  Session 1 for governors and business 
managers 

April 2018   Session 2 for childminders, nursery and 
Holiday and Wraparound childcare providers

CareKnowledge Training Subscription from April 30th

24



Appendix C

Completed Key Actions: Early Years 2017-18

Action Timeframe Responsibility Monitoring Activity
1 To inform individual settings where specific concerns are identified S: September 2017

F: October 2017
Childcare and 
Children’s Centre 
Officer

Early Years Advisor  to contact 
individual settings for assurance of 
compliance.

    January 2018
2 To ensure all relevant guidance is collated and re-distributed to providers with 

clear guidance on actions required
S: December 2017
F: January 2018

Early Education and 
Childcare Coordinator

Childcare and Children’s Centre 
Officer to review at Managers’ Day 

February 2018
To develop programme of training for early years settings, including 
childminders and ‘out of school’ holiday and wraparound childcare providers, to 
include delivery from RCC Safeguarding team within Children’s Social Care, 
RCC Community Safety Team and RALSS to focus on areas identified through 
survey to include :

 CSE
 FGM
 E Safety
 Cyberbullying
 Restraint /Positive Handling
 Homophobic Bullying
 Domestic Abuse
 Anti-Bullying
 Health and Safety
 Protocol for dealing with concerns/disclosure
 Protocols for dealing with allegations against a member of staff, 

volunteer, manager and/or proprietor
 Mental health
 Drugs
 Fabricated or induced illness
 ‘Lock Down’ procedure
 Safer recruitment training
 DBS checks
 Working with other agencies e.g. Social Services, Police and Health.

S: October 2017
F: July 2018

Childcare and 
Children’s Centre 
Officer

Learning and Skills Team Manager 
to monitor take-up and demand  for 
safeguard training 

March 2018.

Learning and Skills Team to 
analyse  2017-18 Safeguarding 
Audit responses

April 2018

3

To ensure the safeguarding and welfare requirements of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage are met by the local authority providing core training.

S: January 2018
F: February 2018

Childcare and 
Children’s Centre 
Officer

Early Years Advisor  to analyse  
Managers’ day evaluation forms 
and identify concerns

25



18

Key safeguarding issues to be shared at the Managers’ Day event (February 
2018).

    March 2018

To ensure all Early Years Networks  (3 times per year)  include programme of 
safeguarding updates with opportunities to share good practice and concerns 

S: November 2017
F: June 2018

Childcare and 
Children’s Centre 
Officer

Early Years Advisor to review 
agenda and feedback from each 
network meeting.

December 2017, April  2018 July 
2018

To ensure all Childminders  continue to fulfil their statutory safeguarding 
responsibilities in meeting the safeguarding and welfare requirements of the 
Early Years Foundation Stage through programme of training and sharing of 
current relevant safeguarding information(3 times per year)  

S: November 2017
F: June 2018

Childcare and 
Children’s Centre 
Officer

REYAL – Childminding 
Agency

Early Years Advisor to review 
agenda and feedback from each 
childminder network meeting.
December 2017, April  2018, July 
2018

4 Plan 2017-18 safeguarding in education audit to reflect outcomes of 2016-17 
survey, local, regional and national initiatives and concerns and updated 
safeguarding guidance. Ensure section appropriate specifically to childminders 
and out of school holiday and wraparound childcare providers in distribution

S. February 2018
f. March 2018

Childcare and 
Children’s Centre 

Officer

Learning and Skills 
Team Manager

Head of Service Learning and Skills 
Team and Head of Children’s 
Social Care through analysis of 
audit 

March 2018

5 Undertake stakeholder engagement activity prior to survey to ensure greater 
response through wider understanding of the importance and relevance of the 
process and outcomes to ensure the safeguarding of all children in Rutland 
early years settings, including childminders and out of school holiday and 
wraparound childcare providers

S: March 2018
F: March 2018

Early Education and 
Childcare Coordinator

Head of Service Learning and Skills 
to monitor volume of audit 
responses and identification of key 
priorities 

April 2018

26



19

Completed Key Actions: Schools 2017-18

Action Timeframe Responsibility Monitoring Activity
1 To inform individual schools where specific concerns are identified. S: September 2017

F: October 2017
Childcare and 
Children’s Centre 
Officer

Primary Education Officer Learning 
and Skills to contact individual 
schools for assurance of 
compliance

    January 2018
2 To ensure all relevant guidance is collated and re-distributed to schools with 

clear guidance on actions required
S: December
2017
F: January 2017

Early Education and 
Childcare Coordinator

Childcare and Children’s Centre 
Officer to follow up receipt and 
action by schools

February 2018
To develop programme of training to include delivery from RCC Safeguarding 
team within Children’s Social Care, RCC Community Safety Team, RALSS, 
Rutland Teaching Alliance and Healthwatch for all schools to focus on areas 
identified through survey to include:

 Children missing education
 CSE
 FGM
 E Safety
 Cyberbullying
 Restraint /Positive Handling
 Homophobic Bullying
 Domestic Abuse
 Drugs
 Fabricated or induced illness
 Protocols for dealing with concerns/disclosure
 Faith Abuse
 Gender based violence / violence against women and girls (VAWG)
 Gangs and Youth Violence
 Safer recruitment training
 DBS checks
 Working with other agencies e.g. Social Services, Police and Health.
 Lock Down procedure

S: October 2017
F: April 2018

Childcare and 
Children’s Centre 
Officer

Learning and Skills Team Manager 
to monitor take-up and demand for 
safeguard training provided 

March 2018.

Learning and Skills Team to 
analyse  2017-18 Safeguarding 
Audit responses

April 2018

3

To ensure statutory training is implemented for designated teachers and named S: October 2017 Rutland County Learning and Skills Team Manager 

27



20

Governors F: April 2018 Council through review of attendance and 
feedback

    April 2018
4 Plan 2017-18 safeguarding in education audit to reflect outcomes of 2016-17 

survey, local, regional and national initiatives and concerns and updated 
safeguarding guidance

S. February 2018
f. March 2018

Childcare and 
Children’s Centre 

Officer

Learning and Skills 
Team Manager

Head of Service Learning and Skills 
Team and Head of Children’s 
Social Care through analysis of 
audit 

March 2018

5 Undertake stakeholder engagement activity prior to survey to ensure greater 
response through wider understanding of the importance and relevance of the 
process and outcomes to ensure the safeguarding of all children in Rutland 
schools  

S: March 2018
F: March 2018

Early Education and 
Childcare Coordinator

Head of Service Learning and Skills 
to monitor volume of audit 
responses and identification of key 
priorities 

April 2018

28



Appendix D                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
Key Actions plan 2018-19

Action Timeframe Responsibility Monitoring Activity
1 To inform individual education 

providers where specific 
concerns are identified.

S: 
September 
2018
F: October 
2018

Childcare and 
Children’s 
Centre Officer/ 
Safeguarding 
Champion

Officers within the Learning and 
Skills Service to discuss 
identified concerns with 
education providers.

January 2019 
Monitoring of attendance at 
safeguarding events

   April 2019
2 To ensure all relevant 

guidance is collated and re-
distributed to education 
providers (including out of 
county provisions) with clear 
guidance on actions required.

S: October 
2018
F: February 
2019 

Early 
Education and 
Childcare 
Coordinator

Childcare and Children’s Centre 
Officer to follow up receipt and 
actions

February 2019

The audit identified priority 
training and/or updates based 
on a % of requests from early 
years’ settings and 
schools.(see below)
A programme of training will 
be developed with training 
delivered by RCC 
Safeguarding team within 
Children’s Social Care, RCC 
Community Safety Team, 
RALSS, and Rutland 
Teaching Alliance for all 
education providers.

S: 
September 
2018
F: April 
2019

Childcare and 
Children’s 
Centre Officer/ 
Safeguarding 
Champion

Learning and Skills Team 
Manager to monitor take-up 
and demand for safeguard 
training provided 

March 2019.

3

To ensure statutory training is 
implemented for designated 
teachers and named 
Governors

S: October 
2018
F: April 
2019

Learning and 
Skills Head of 

Service

Learning and Skills Team 
Manager through review of 
attendance and feedback

    April 2019

4 Plan 2018-19 safeguarding 
through education audit to 
reflect  local, regional and 
national initiatives and 
concerns and updated 

S. October 
2018
f. March 
2019

Childcare and 
Children’s 

Centre Officer 
Safeguarding 
Champion /

Learning and 
Skills Team 

Manager

Head of Service Learning and 
Skills Team and Head of 
Children’s Social Care 

March 2019

29



22

5 Undertake stakeholder 
engagement activity prior to 
launch of audit (w/c 29th April 
2019) to ensure a greater 
response.

S: October 
2018
F: May 2019

Early 
Education and 

Childcare 
Coordinator

Head of Service Learning and 
Skills to monitor volume of audit 
responses and identification of 
key priorities 

May 2019
Learning and Skills Service to 
analyse  2018-19 Safeguarding 
Audit responses

May  2019

Number of Training requests 2018-19     

29 Gangs and youth violence                                                                                     
24 Gender based violence/violence against women and girls (VAWG),                                                                                                                   
23 Faith Abuse                                                                                                            
21 Children missing from home or care.                                                               
21 Drugs                                                                                                                  18 
Homophobic Bullying                                                                                       15 
Children missing education                                                                               16 
reasonable force/ positive handling                                                              16 
Domestic Abuse                                                                                                     12 
Cyberbullying                                                                                                     11 
Mental Health (including suicidal ideation and self-harm)                        11 
Safer Recruitment and Induction Policy                                                                                                           
5 CSE                                                                                                                           
7 Female Genital Mutilation (FGM)                                                                       
6 Online Safety                                                                                                          
5 Food Hygiene                                                                                                          
2 PREVENT                       

     

30



Report No: 205/2018
PUBLIC REPORT

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY PANEL
22 NOVEMBER 2018

LOCAL AUTHORITY DESIGNATED OFFICER 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018
Report of the Strategic Director for People

Strategic Aim: Safeguarding

Exempt Information No

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Mr Richard Foster, Portfolio Holder for Safeguarding - 
- Children and Young People

Contact Officer(s): Cathy Smith, Head of Childrens 
Social Care

Tel: 01572 758859
Csmith@rutland.gov.uk

Tracy Holliday, Quality Assurance 
Manager and LADO

Tel: 01572 720913
Tholliday@rutland.gov.uk

Ward Councillors All

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Panel:

1. Notes the content of the Report

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To outline Rutland Activity regarding Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) 
concerns, enquiries and outcomes.

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

2.1 The national requirement for local authorities to appoint a designated officer (LADO) 
to manage allegations against adults who work with children was introduced in 
Working Together and in Safeguarding Children and Safer Recruitment in Education 
back in 2006.

2.2 The LADO responsibility sits with the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Manager 
in Rutland County Council.  Tracy Holliday is employed on a full time basis and has 
overall responsibility for LADO reporting to Cathy Smith Head of Children’s Social 
Care who provides cover when required. Sherrie Grant, Business Support Officer 
has the responsibility for coordinating LADO Complex Strategy meetings, recording 

31

Agenda Item 10

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


and distributing the minutes.

2.3 Their role is to give advice and guidance to employers and voluntary organisations; 
liaise with the Police and other agencies, and monitor the progress of cases to 
ensure that they are dealt with as quickly as possible, consistent with a thorough 
and fair process. Every agency that works with children and young people should 
have a Designated Officer whose job it is to liaise with and refer to LADO.

2.4 The LADO should be alerted to all cases in which it is alleged that a person who 
works with children has:

 Behaved in a way that has harmed, or may have harmed, a child.

 Possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child.

 Behaved towards a child in a way that indicates they may pose a risk of harm 
to children.

3 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The number of referrals has increased during the last year by 87%. Of these 
referrals, 33% where ‘logged and closed’ following consultation and advice given by 
the LADO. 

3.2 The activity report attached as Appendix A offers oversight of our LADO service. 

3.3 Within the report we have made a number of recommendations and areas for focus 
to continue to improve our service during 2018-19.

3.4 The service continues to develop and go from strength to strength. 

4 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

4.1 There are no additional background papers to the report.

5 APPENDICES 

5.1 Appendix A: Local Authority Designated Officer Annual Report 2017-2018.

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577. 

32



Page 1 of 8

Rutland Children’s Services

Safeguarding Quality Assurance Service

Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO)

Annual Report 2017 - 2018

Author: Tracy Holliday
Date: August 2018
Version: 1.0
Approved by DMT:
Approved by SMT:
Approved by Cabinet:

33



Page 2 of 8

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The national requirement for local authorities to appoint a designated officer 
(LADO) to manage allegations against adults who work with children was 
introduced in Working Together and in Safeguarding Children and Safer 
Recruitment in Education back in 2006.

1.2 Current guidance on safeguarding and allegations against adults working with 
children can be found in the publications: 

 Guidance for Safer Working Practice for Adults who Work with Children 
and Young People in Education Settings, DCSF (2009)

 Keeping Children Safe in Education (July 2015)

 Working Together to Safeguard Children July 2018

1.3 Local procedures are contained in the Leicestershire & Rutland Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) Policies and Procedures at Chapter 3.9.

1.4 The LADO responsibility sits with the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance 
Service Manager in Rutland County Council.  Tracy Holliday is employed on a 
full time basis and has overall responsibility for LADO reporting to Cathy Smith, 
Head of Children’s Social Care, who provides cover when required. Sherrie 
Grant, Business Support Administrator has the responsibility for coordinating 
LADO Complex Strategy Meetings, recording and distributing the minutes.

1.5 Working Together to Safeguard Children was updated in July 2018 and states 
Local Authorities should have designated a particular officer, or team of 
officers (either as part of local multi-agency arrangements or otherwise), to be 
involved in the management and oversight of allegations against people who 
work with children. Any such officer, or team of officers, should be sufficiently 
qualified and experienced to be able to fulfil this role effectively, for example, 
qualified social workers. Any new appointments to such a role, other than 
current or former designated officers moving between local authorities, should 
be qualified social workers. Arrangements should be put in place to ensure 
that any allegations about those who work with children are passed to the 
designated officer, or team of officers, without delay. This has meant the 
Rutland’s LADO service continues to be structured and managed as 
described above. Tracy and Cathy are both qualified and experienced social 
workers, and registered with the HCPC.  

1.6 The Rutland LADO also follows the National LADO Principles – this set of 
National LADO Principles was agreed by Regional Representatives from 
across the Country in consultation with partner agencies and Regional 
Groups. They are principles of practice which aim to ensure parity between 
LADOs at a high level and should be adopted as such. Where a Regional 
Group or individual LADO has a more detailed set of standards to follow, 
these should take precedence over the National LADO Principles but should 
broadly be in line with them.

34

http://www.childrenengland.org.uk/upload/Guidance%20.pdf
http://www.childrenengland.org.uk/upload/Guidance%20.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/447595/KCSIE_July_2015.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/722305/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children_-_Guide.pdf


Page 3 of 8

2.0  Aim and Objectives of the LADO

2.1 Aim:

 To safeguard children by working with multi-agency stakeholders to promote a 
safer workforce culture within the Local Authority and the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) boundaries.

2.2 Objectives:

 To address allegations against adults who work with children as quickly as 
possible to reach a satisfactory conclusion and a final outcome.

 To be consistent and fair using a thorough process including robust and timely 
actions

 To ensure that all referrals and procedures are recorded on the Rutland CC 
internal systems and electronic database to enable statistics and quality 
assurance to influence good practice, future developments and resources.

 To promote safer working practices by contributing to the LSCB and other 
relevant training programmes.

 To work proactively with external agencies to ensure that LADO referrals are 
appropriate and that agencies understand and respond to their LADO 
responsibilities.

3.0 Complaints and Allegations

3.1 The process of managing allegations starts where information comes to the 
attention of a Senior Manager which suggests that an adult working with 
children may have: 

 Behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have harmed a child;

 Possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child; or

 Behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates he/she is 
unsuitable to work with children. 

3.2 Employers may also seek the advice of the LADO where an employee’s 
behaviour is a matter for concern to his/her manager because it compromises 
or may be seen to comprise the reputation and ability of the organisation to 
safeguard children and young people.  Some examples of this may be where 
an individual has:

 Contravened or has continued to contravene any safe practice guidance 
given by his/her organisation or regulatory body

 Exploited or abused a position of power

 Acted in an irresponsible manner which any reasonable person would find 
alarming or questionable given the nature of work undertaken

35



Page 4 of 8

 Demonstrated a failure to understand or appreciate how his or her own 
actions or those of others could adversely impact upon the safety and well-
being of a child

 Demonstrated an inability to make sound professional judgements which 
safeguard the welfare of children

 Failed to follow adequately policy or procedures relating to safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children

 Failed to understand or recognise the need for clear personal and 
professional boundaries in his or her work

 Behaved in a way in his or her personal life which could put children at risk 
of harm

 Become the subject of criminal proceedings not relating to a child

 Become subject to enquiries under local child protection procedures

 Behaved in a way which seriously undermines the trust and confidence 
placed in him or her by the employer.

3.3 This report covers the number of referrals made to the LADO Unit, including 
concerns/consultations that did not meet the threshold for a Complex Strategy 
Meeting (CSM). The report draws out some of the key aspects from the 
allegations data. The report will highlight achievements and challenges facing 
this evolving area of work, before making recommendations to further develop 
the work.

3.4 The core elements of the LADO Unit’s work are:

 Management of contacts and referrals
 Chairing Complex Strategy Meetings and Professionals Meetings
 Fulfilling the ‘duty to cooperate’ role for Children, Families and Adults 

Services in the Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA)
 Liaison with the Probation and Prison Services
 Consultancy
 Training

4. LADO data for 2017/2018

4.1 43 referrals/enquires were received in total. There has been a significant 
increase in the number of referrals/enquiries from the preceding year when 
there were 23. This is an increase of 87%. 

4.2 Rutland LADO is part of the East Midlands LADO Forum. Some other areas 
have reported a continued increase in the number of referrals and contacts 
made to their respective local authorities in recent years

4.3 The analysis of the increase in referrals to LADO suggests that children, 
parents, members of the public, professionals, employers and employees are 
now beginning to report concerns as a result of greater awareness of the 
LADO role and their safeguarding responsibilities. 

36



Page 5 of 8

4.4 44% of referrals/enquiries received resulted in advice being provided and 
agencies or organisations undertaking their own investigation and subsequent 
action through their internal procedures during the period, where the LADO 
threshold for a Complex Strategy Meeting (CSM) was not met.

4.5 The roles in relation to those being referred were as follows:
 

Role Number of 
enquiries/referrals

Education school/college 11
Education nursery 2
Residential Care (children) 17
Residential Care (adults)
Foster Carers
Child minders 1
Sport
Transport 1
Police
Social Care 4
Health 1
Ofsted 2
LADO other LA 1
Other (eg. Parent, Counsellor) 3
Cleaner (in educational setting)
Historical
Total 43

Concern Number
Physical 14
Sexual 11
Neglect 2
Emotional 4
CSE 5
Other 7
Total 43

Outcome of referral Year total
Logged & Closed 14
Internal Enquiry/CSM 10
Enquiry/Advice given 19
Total 43

Outcome of the LADO Enquiry/CSM Year total
Substantiated 8
Unfounded 1
Malicious
False
Unsubstantiated 1
Not concluded/outcome unknown
Total 10

37



Page 6 of 8

4.6 Key findings:

 The voice of the child is evident throughout the LADO process

 The number of referrals has increased during the last year by 87%. Of these 
referrals, 33% where ‘logged and closed’ following consultation and advice 
given by the LADO. 

 It is viewed as positive that there is growing awareness of the LADO and the 
role of the LADO in Rutland and that people are using the LADO for 
consultations, support and advice.  

 Whilst 33% of the referrals were ‘logged and closed’ there is often a 
considerable amount of work undertaken by the Rutland LADO before this 
conclusion is reached.

 It is vital that the LADO service records all referrals and contacts made to the 
Rutland LADO. In recent times recording undertaken by the LADO ten years 
ago has been helpful information used by police in a neighbouring authority as 
part of criminal investigations.

 Of referrals requiring a LADO investigation fewer concluded by being 
substantiated. 

 The July 2015 Department for Education statutory guidance for schools and 
colleges ‘Keeping Children Safe in Education’ has put  safeguarding guidance 
in one place and includes a chapter which focuses upon allegations. 

 The ‘Keeping Children Safe in Education’ guidance has also raised the 
awareness and importance of whistle blowing.

 Ofsted have liaised with the LADO service on day care provision, school and 
residential homes related matters. 

 There were 10 Complex Strategy Discussions /Internal enquiries held during 
the period. This is 23% of the total referrals/enquiries received in the period.

 If the 10 Complex Strategy Discussions that were held, 8 (80%) of the 
allegations were substantiated. Of the remaining 2; 1 was unfounded and 1 
unsubstantiated.

 During this period the LADO has been involved in two complex and lengthy 
investigations both of which have involved Ofsted, one resulted in Police 
charges and dismissal of multiple employees ranging from senior management 
to front line staff. The other investigation resulted in the closure of a nursery 
setting following their failure to address the safeguarding concerns.   

 10 referrals have involved care workers at a residential school for children with 
disabilities and behaviour difficulties. One referral related to female employees 
who reported sexual harassment and sexual assaults which had been 
perpetrated by a male member of staff and male manager. The LADO/Police 
investigation revealed a concerning picture regarding the culture and lack of 

38



Page 7 of 8

safeguarding for the young residents who due to their disability were vulnerable 
to abuse.  In accordance with the procedures a senior manager who had not 
been implicated undertook initial enquiries with the staff. A Complex Strategy 
Meeting was held and the LADO that was informed that no concerns had been 
raised regarding the manager who was permitted by the principle to continue 
working in the setting. The care worker was initially suspended pending the 
outcome of the police investigation and the employer’s internal investigation. At 
that time there was no further role for the LADO. 
A few months’ later concerns were raised by previous employees who had 
learnt that the care worker had been reinstated despite being indicted with five 
offences. The Police and LADO had not been consulted prior to the care 
providers reinstating the care worker. A timely challenge was made by the 
LADO which resulted in the care worker not returning to his previous position. 
It was concerning that a high number of staff were aware of their colleagues 
behaviour but had not felt able to report it to their managers. The LADO was 
informed that all of the staff have received safeguarding training and were fully 
aware of the Code of Conduct which was re-visited regularly in 1:1 supervision. 
It was evident that the staff identified had not gained sufficient understanding to 
recognise ‘Abuse in Care’ despite sensing that something was wrong they have 
not reflected upon the reasons that they were concerned about to decide 
whether they were serious and needed to be recorded/reported. Some of the 
employees experienced anxiety and worry, whilst others felt that they had dealt 
with the situation. None had considered that their colleague’s behaviour was 
likely to place their vulnerable residents at risk. 
The LADO escalated the concerns to the care provider’s directors which 
resulted in the suspension and dismissal of a care worker, middle manager and 
the school principle. Further referrals were received in a matter of months. The 
LADO questioned the provider’s judgement in regards to safer recruitment and 
sought reassurance that they were taking the necessary action to safeguard the 
children in their care. The LADO shared her concerns regarding the middle 
manager and principle who had the responsibility for safeguarding given that 
they had worked in the setting for a number of years. Interestingly the local 
authority were reporting concerns as they were finding it very difficult to develop 
a healthy working relationship with the provider previously. 
The LADO worked very closely with Ofsted who undertook a number of 
inspections and improvement notices were subsequently issued. Advice and 
guidance has been given to the provider around safer recruitment, robust 
reporting and safeguarding training. It is positive that communication and 
relationship working has been improved. 

 3 LADO investigations related to 2 nursery manager owners and 1 nursery 
worker who was employed in the same setting. The LADO investigation found 
that there had been previous concerns which were very similar in nature and 
found significant safeguarding concerns. There was effective collaboration 
between the childcare and children’s centre officers, Ofsted and LADO.

4.7 The key role that the subject of referrals occupied continues to reflect those 
groups which have the most direct contact with children and young people. 
Historic allegations are where the alleged perpetrator is no longer employed or 
where the allegations relate to other child(ren) who live in another area. This 
may be ex foster carers or ex teachers.   

39



Page 8 of 8

5. Development

5.1 The Rutland LADO aims to work with professionals from all agencies to 
ensure that everyone is aware of the role of the LADO and of how to refer to 
the LADO. Raising awareness of the LADO is seen as being very important 
and the Rutland LADO has accepted requests to go and talk to professional 
groups at team meetings, and plans to expand this further by facilitating 
training sessions over the next year. 

          
5.2 The Regional LADO group continues to meet quarterly and is attended by the 

Rutland LADO. 

5.3 The LADO now holds statistical information in a format that is readily available 
in order to;

 Ensure information regarding a potential perpetrator of harm to a child is 
recorded securely and available to compare with new information regarding 
the same person.

 Assist in answering freedom of information (FOI) enquiries.
 Provide comparible figures to assist Regional Groups or Nationally in 

identifying trends or areas of commonality or disparity.
 Provide accurate figures to Ofsted/DfE when required.

5.4 Quality Assurance Audit Tool for LADOs

A self-audit will be undertaken first to enable the LADO to identify strengths 
and areas for development. The peer audit will cover the same criteria and the 
two can then be compared.

Collaboration and assistance from officers within the relevant local authority 
will increase the value of the audit and the ability of the authority involved to 
identify areas to improve and support the LADO function.

Tracy Holliday 
Quality Assurance and Safeguarding Manager and LADO

Sherrie Grant
Business Support Administrator

Rutland County Council
August 2018

40



Report No: 206/2018
PUBLIC REPORT

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY PANEL
22 NOVEMBER 2018

INDEPENDENT REVIEW SERVICE FOR CHILDREN LOOKED 
AFTER 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
Report of the Strategic Director For People

Strategic Aim: Safeguarding

Exempt Information No

Cabinet Member Responsible: Mr Richard Foster, Portfolio Holder for Safeguarding - 
- Children and Young People

Contact Officer(s): Cathy Smith, Head of Childrens 
Social Care

Tel: 01572 758859
Csmith@rutland.gov.uk

Tracy Holliday, Quality Assurance 
Manager and LADO

Tel: 01572 720913
Tholliday@rutland.gov.uk

Ward Councillors All

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Panel:

1. Notes the content of the Report.

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To present the Annual Report of the Independent Review Service for Children 
Looked After.

1.2 The report looks at the activity of the IRO Service and highlights areas of good 
practice in addition to areas that need further improvement to ensure the needs of 
Children Looked After (CLA) are met both in the short term day to day care and the 
long term aspirations to prepare children for success in adulthood.

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

2.1 This report relates to the Council’s strategic objective “protecting vulnerable 
communities” and also to the Council’s role as corporate parent for looked after 
children.

41

Agenda Item 11

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


2.2 The Council is required to provide a reviewing service to oversee and review the 
work of the Council in promoting and delivering care plans for individual looked after 
children (children in care for whom the Council is corporate parent). This must be 
independent of the operational line management of the social work teams 
responsible for looked after children’s cases.

2.3 The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service (SQAS) organises and chairs 
children looked after reviews. An Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) is the person 
who ensures that children looked after by the Local Authority have regular reviews 
to consider the care plan and placement. It is the role of the Independent Reviewing 
Officer to ensure that a child’s views are taken into consideration and that the Local 
Authority is fulfilling its duties and functions

2.4 The Annual Report for the Independent Review Service is a statutory requirement 
under the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2015. 
The Independent Review Service Handbook (statutory guidance) states that 
managers of the Independent Review Service should provide an annual report for 
the scrutiny within the Council.

3 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The activity report attached as Appendix A offers oversight of our Independent 
Review Service. In conclusion;

 99% of CLA reviews have been held within the required timescale; a slight 
improvement on the previous year.

 There is a clear IRO footprint on cases which were challenged during our 
OFSTED inspection.

 The approach to strengthen and empower the nuclear family with timely and 
effective support from professionals is in line with current practice and is 
underpinned by research. This is practice at its best. At a time when all local 
authorities are looking to make savings it is important to report the savings made 
by using an approach which front loads resources, is relationship based and 
solution focussed in approach. The annual cost for this group of children who 
were previously looked after was just over £145,000. Whilst it may appear to be 
in poor taste to talk about financial savings it is important as the local authority 
has corporate parenting responsibilities for children who are looked after. 
‘Parents’ with responsibilities are faced with choices and decisions, some of 
which are difficult but need to be made particularly when there are limited funds. 
‘Parents’ need to be creative and use the resources that are available within the 
family.

3.2 Within the report we have made a number of recommendations and areas for focus 
to continue to improve our service during 2018-19.

3.3 The service continues to develop and go from strength to strength.

4 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

4.1 There are no additional background papers to the report.

42



5 APPENDICES 

5.1 Appendix A: Independent Review Service for Children Looked After- Annual 
Report 2017-2018.

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577. 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



Independent Review Service 

For Children Looked After

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18

Report Author: Tracy Holliday
Safeguarding Quality Assurance Service Manager
August 2018

45



Annual IRO Report – 2017-18 Page 2 of 29

Contents

1.0

    2.0

Status of the Report

Executive summary

3.0 Purpose of Service and Legal Context

4.0

   5.0

   6.0

Corporate parenting

Ofsted Inspection

Responses to Recommendations made in the Annual Report 2016-2017

7.0 Quantitative information

8.0 Qualitative Information

9.0 Conduct of the organisation in relation to the review

10.0 Conduct of the organisation in relation to the case

11.0 Recommendations for the IRO service and organisation 2017-2018

46



Annual IRO Report – 2017-18 Page 3 of 29

1.0 STATUS OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Annual Report for the Independent Review Service is a requirement under the 
Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2015. The 
Independent Review Service Handbook (statutory guidance) states that managers of 
the Independent Review Service should provide an annual report for the scrutiny of 
the Corporate Parenting Board

1.2 This report is structured in accordance with the headings prescribed in the guidance 
issued as part of the Independent Review Officers Handbook 2014. The Independent 
Review Officers (IRO) Handbook provides supplementary guidance for use by 
Independent Review Services in relation to the Care Planning Placement and Case 
Review Regulations 2015. 

1.3 The report highlights areas of good practice in addition to areas that need further 
improvement to ensure the needs of Children Looked After (CLA) are met both in the 
short term day to day care and long term aspirations to prepare children for success 
in adulthood. 

1.4 It is also a review of the trends and emerging themes from the reviews of CLA 
providing information that may contribute to the strategic plans of the Local Authority 
(LA) in fulfilling its corporate parenting duties.

2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1 Significant changes have been made over the last two years which are beginning to 
make an impact in regards to achieving positive outcomes for children and their 
families. Most importantly we have listened to children and their families who are the 
‘experts’ in regards to their unique and individual circumstances. Our Children in Care 
Council – Speak Up Speak Out group have found their voices and have spoken about 
their ‘lived experience’ and helpfully what we need to do differently. 

The local authority were previously achieving stability and some positive outcomes in 
regards to academic achiements for children looked after, however there were very 
few successful reunifications and parents ongoing involvement in their children’s lives 
was limited; for some it was none existent. It is fair to say that Care plans were not 
always smart and some were drifting which is not in the child’s best interest. This 
understandably creates some difficulties for the child(ren) in the short, medium and 
longer term when relevant relationships are not maintained and developed to build 
upon their network of support and sense of identity. Children often experience trauma 
and grief following separation from parents which can lead to emotional, behavioural 
and social difficulties. 

47



Annual IRO Report – 2017-18 Page 4 of 29

During the period from April 2017 to March 2018 17 children have ceased to be looked 
after with 14 reunifications to parents and extended family members. Timely and 
appropriate decisions were made for 3 young children who were adopted. This is a 
success story that needs to be celebrated as the local authority have worked with the 
parents to make the changes that were needed; when this was not achievable they 
have worked with the parents to identity family members or friends who the child has 
formed a relationship with and were able to provide care. Child Arrangement Orders 
have been made and informal shared care arrangements that works for the child(ren). 
When all other options for the child have been fully explored permanency has been 
achieved through adoption. 

The approach to strengthen and empower the nuclear family with timely and effective 
support from professionals is in line with current practice and is underpinned by 
research. This is practice at its best. At a time when all local authorities are looking 
to make savings it is important to report the savings made by using an approach 
which front loads resources, is relationship based and solution focussed in approach. 
The annual cost for this group of children who were previously looked after was just 
over £145,000. Whilst it may appear to be in poor taste to talk about financial savings 
it is important as the local authority has corporate parenting responsibilities for 
children who are looked after. ‘Parents’ with responsibilities are faced with choices 
and decisions, some of which are difficult but need to be made particularly when there 
are limited funds. ‘Parents’ need to be creative and use the resources that are 
available within the family.

                                                                                                         

48



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 5 of 29

3.0 PURPOSE OF SERVICE AND LEGAL CONTEXT

‘Following the withdrawal of the children’s guardian the IRO remains the only 
independent scrutiniser of the local authority’s actions in relation to the care plan 
for the child’ (ADCS and Cafcass, 2014).

3.1 The core purpose of the IRO role is to ensure that the care plan for the child fully 
reflects the child’s needs and to ensure that each child’s wishes and feelings are 
given full and due consideration. The appointment by local authorities of an IRO is 
a legal requirement.

3.2 Concerns had arisen over time that IROs did not sufficiently challenge local 
authority decisions when practice was poor and not in children’s best interest.

3.3 The Children and Young Person’s Act 2008 and the revised care planning 
regulations and guidance which came into force in April 2011, strengthened the 
role of the IRO who is not only responsible for chairing statutory reviews but also 
for monitoring cases on an ongoing basis. 

3.4 The IRO also has a duty to monitor the local authorities overall performance as a 
corporate parent and to bring any areas of poor practice in the care and planning 
for looked after children to the attention of senior managers.

3.5 Care proceedings reforms to the conduct of care proceedings introduced in 2013-
14 have considerable implications for IROs. Under the Children and Families Act 
2014 and related changes to court rules, the duration of care proceedings is 
normally limited to 26 weeks, unless there are specific reasons for them to take 
longer. The court is only required to consider the permanence provisions of the 
care plan, not all the other details, although it is still required to consider contact 
under s.34(11). The role of Cafcass guardians has been affected by these 
changes, and they are now required to undertake a much swifter case analysis at 
the start of the proceedings (Cafcass, 2013, 2014b). The changes make it even 
more important that there are effective links between guardians and IROs, to 
exchange information, discuss any contentious issues and ‘hand over’ the care 
plan at the end of proceedings. A good practice protocol for Cafcass-IRO working 
during care proceedings was developed in 2013 by the ADCS and Cafcass 
(replacing Cafcass, 2011). The new protocol was supported by the DfE, The 
National IRO Managers Group and NAIRO (ADCS and Cafcass, 2014). 

4.0 CORPORATE PARENTING

4.1 The concept of ‘corporate parenting’ is central to care planning and the role of the 
IRO. It is the term used to capture the range of roles and responsibilities that a 
local authority has towards children looked after by them. The primary legal duties 
are set out in the Children Act 1989 (as amended by the Children and Young 

49



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 6 of 29

Persons Act 2008), sections 22 and 22A-G. They are to ‘safeguard and promote’ 
the welfare of the children by providing them with suitable accommodation and 
maintaining them in other respects; to give first consideration to placing them with 
a parent, then with a relative, friend or other ‘connected person’; and to ascertain 
and give due consideration to the wishes and feelings of the child, his/her parents, 
and other relevant persons.

4.2 Translating the legal requirements into social work policy and practice means 
ensuring that the children’s ‘ordinary’ childhood needs are met, and securing 
specialist help for any additional needs that they may have. The central goals for 
all looked after children are to make sure they receive good quality care, and 
achieve permanence and stability. These are regarded as the foundations for 
successful outcomes in other areas of life, such as education, health and 
employment. For the majority of children who enter care, permanence is achieved 
outside the care system, through reunification with the birth parent(s), adoption or 
kinship care (under certain legal statuses; it is possible to remain looked after but 
placed long-term with family or friends); but for a minority, the local authority will 
be the long-term corporate parent, with the physical and emotional parenting tasks 
being undertaken by foster carers or residential workers (Schofield et al., 2007, 
2008, 2011a).

4.3 Research has long shown that there is considerable variation between and within 
local authorities in all aspects of the looked after system – for example, in rates of 
entry, adoption, kinship care, and reunification. 

4.4  A critical factor in corporate parenting is that there is widespread public and 
political scepticism about the capacity of the care system to deliver good outcomes 
for children, although research gives a more nuanced and generally positive 
picture. As Thoburn and Courtney (2011; 214) put it:

There is no room for complacency and every reason to seek to prevent the 
need for long-term care: but the evidence is that the state can succeed in ensuring 
good parenting to children who have to spend short or long periods away from their 
families but also that it fails too often to do so.

4.5 In recent years there has been political and policy drives to restrict the use of state 
care, shorten the length of time that children stay in it (‘private’ options such as 
reunification, kinship care or adoption preferred), and to increase the role that the 
independent sector plays in providing care.

50



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 7 of 29

5.0 OFSTED INSPECTION

5.1 The Ofsted Inspection was undertaken on the 14th November to the 7th 
December 2016 and the report was published on the 13th February 2017 which 
concluded that Children’s services in Rutland require improvement to be good.

5.2 The local authority formulated an Action Plan that has been regularly reviewed 
during this period and there is evidence to suggest that steady progress is being 
made.

51



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 8 of 29

6.0 RESPONSES TO RECOMMENDATIONS MADE IN THE ANNUAL REPORT 
2016-2017  

Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service (SQAS) response to last year’s 
recommendations 

6.1 To monitor all care plans in between reviews in proportion to need.

Update:. Cases have been monitored by the SQAS Manager who supervises the 
IRO and has continued to have some operational responsibilities during this 
review period. Oversight of care plans has been consistently robust and the IRO 
has sufficiently challenged delays in the making of permanent plans for children’s 
futures. The views of children have always been taken into full account and the 
IRO role in monitoring and challenging the local authorities’ overall performance 
as corporate parents has been developed resulting in a fewer cases being stuck 
or experiencing considerable drift. The remains a few difficulties when the IRO 
service is not being valued and when their challenge has not always been 
received positively. 

6.2 To provide monthly performance reports to the authority’s management 
group.

Update: Achieved. Data is collated, analysed and shared. 

6.3 To ensure care plan recommendations are distributed within 10 working 
days of review meetings.

Update: There was 101 child looked after reviews held during this period out of 
this 86 (85%) were distributed within the required timescales. This improved 
following the appointment of a full-time permanent IRO who Chaired 79 reviews 
with 2 being out of timescales (please note – IRO performance issues 4.12).

6.4 To provide comprehensive and qualitative data.

Update: This has been achieved and has been shared at the monthly quality 
assurance and performance meetings. 

6.5 To promote and support more young people to chair their own review 
meetings.

Update: Some progress was made during this review period particularly when 
Children and Young People are always encouraged to chair their own meeting 
and the IRO and Independent Advocate offers to support them, however the 
majority choose not to and their wishes are respected. Most complete their 
‘Planning Your Review’ booklet and feel comfortable being in their meeting and 

52



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 9 of 29

are supported to ask questions about their Care plan to ensure that they are 
happy with the immediate and longer term arrangements. Some of the children 
and young people feel that the meetings are repetitive and become frustrated 
with the process. The IRO tries to work creatively and flexibly to ensure that 
Children and Young People are able to participate in the way that is best for 
them.

6.6 For the service to continue to implement the expectation that no review will 
be considered complete until the child or young person has been seen by 
the IRO.

Update: All of the Children and Young People have been seen by their IRO and 
their views have been shared appropriately. As above, some Children and Young 
people do not like to attend their meeting so the IRO endeavours to see them 
ideally before their meeting if they are available or shortly afterwards.

6.7 To explore the implementation of a Signs of Safety approach within the 
looked after review meeting process.

Update: Signs of Safety was introduced to the CLA reviews during the last 
quarter of 2016 and feedback has been positive mainly because it is a strengths 
and solution focussed approach which has empowered the child/young person 
and their families. The simplicity of language used along with positive framing 
and scaling has made the meetings less formal and more productive.

6.8 To implement a new IRO checklist to be completed at every CLA review.  

Update: This has been achieved. The data is collated and analysed by the SQAS 
manager and IRO. Feedback is provided to the Children’s Social Care managers 
and the data informs the monthly QA and performance reports.

Children’s Social Care

6.9 The organisation should adequately address the late submission of social 
work reports for CLA review meetings.  This has been an outstanding action 
from previous years that has yet to be fully resolved.

Update: The IRO should be provided with or have access to any relevant 
reports/plans or background information, including current care plan, the port from 
the social worker should be available at least 3 working days before the 
commencement of the review, the current health plan or medical assessment 
report and the current personal education plan (PEP). Some improvements have 
been made as the social workers and team managers have continued to work 
closely with SQAS to resolve any technical issues in a timely manner as this has 
been one of the reasons for reports not being completed and shared with families 

53



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 10 of 29

and professionals. There was a notable dip during the reorganisation of the 
children’s social care teams which resulted in cases being re-allocated to new 
workers who did not complete report within the required timescale. (See table 
below in appendices).

6.10 The organisation should continue to work on improving concurrent/parallel 
planning for children in care proceedings to ensure permanency and 
adoption is achieved without drift or delay for CLA.

Update: Significant progress has been made following the development of the 
multi-agency ARC/CLA panel which is a robust and effective process that ensures 
that there is good management oversight, allocation of resources and timely 
decisions. SQAS attends the ARC/CLA meetings as a ‘critical friend’ which is felt 
to be of value. Panel members are forward thinking and creative and are able to 
change direction when required if the plan is not meeting the child’s needs and 
other options need to be explored. Case Learning Reviews have been facilitated 
by SQAS for few complex cases that were ‘stuck’ which has resulted in the child 
having a clear plan that is being progressed.

6.11 The CLA health service must address ongoing issues with medical 
assessments not being completed within timescale.  These often take place 
in a reactive manner when this is brought to their attention by the local 
authority.  In order to ensure the organisation can meets its corporate 
parenting responsibilities for CLA and their health needs, the CLA health 
service should be proactive in tracking, organising and ensuring medicals 
take place within timescale.

Update: At the time that this report is being completed Initial and Review Health 
Assessments are being completed within the required timescales. There remains 
some difficulties when CLA are placed out of area as some other neighbouring 
Local Authorities have seen significant increases of children becoming looked 
after which has resulted in a back log of health assessments. Up until February 
2018 the process developed in Rutland during this period has relied on a 
dedicated and proactive administrator who was collating data manually rather 
than social workers using the Social Care Management System that has the 
facility to generate the dates and tasks. The administrator sent the request to 
health which was not routinely acknowledged and then requires further follow-up 
calls which at times leaves little time for the assessments to be completed. 
Training will be provided in 2018 to enable the Social Workers to take 
responsibility for this.

54



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 11 of 29

6.12 The organisation should review the SQAS service to ensure it has the 
necessary capacity and resources available to ensure it can continue to 
provide consistent quality assurance monitoring of all CLA, including 
reviewing care plan progress in between review meetings.  This will help to 
ensure the organisation is meeting its corporate parenting responsibilities 
to children in Rutland’s care.

Update: A review of the SQAS was completed and funding was agreed for a full-
time permanent Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) to be appointed which was 
achieved in May 2017. The IRO that was appointed had previous experience as a 
Children’s Social Care Team Manager but had not been in an IRO position 
therefore they required an extensive induction and training which was provided by 
the SQAS manager and via the regional IRO network training events. 
Arrangements were made for the IRO and the SQAS Manager to complete the 
Advanced Practice for IROs which was being delivered by Edge Hill University in 
Manchester beginning March 2018. The IRO was given a reduced caseload which 
included the children looked after but not the children who were subject of a child 
protection plan. The IRO was also given the responsibility for chairing the 
Supervision Order reviews. The number of CLA/SO reviews that the IRO was 
responsible for from June 2017 to March 2018 (last working day) was 103 reviews 
(some involved sibling groups). A number of performance issues resulted in the 
SQAS manager needing to extend the IROs probationary period and provide 
additional support as well as continuing to undertake operational tasks including 
chairing child protection conferences. The IRO left the post in March 2018.

6.13 The organisation should ensure that all care plans are revised and 
distributed at least 10 working days before each CLA review.  Any 
information that is dated or no longer relevant should be removed or revised 
as appropriate.

Update: Children’s Social Care generally update the care plan every 12 months 
unless there are significant changes i.e. change of placement. It does not appear 
that the care plans are not being revised and distributed at least 10 days before 
each review. At times the care plan has contained information that is dated and no 
longer relevant. SQAS will monitor this at every review and provide timely feedback 
to the Team and Service Managers which will resolve this issue.

Recommendations for the IRO/SQAS

55



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 12 of 29

6.14 Enhanced status for IRO’s – notably, so they can have immediate access to senior 
managers; 

Update: This has been achieved in part as the SQAS manager has regular 1-1 
supervision with the Head of Service where practice and performance is 
discussed. The IRO is responsible for escalating concerns and is supported by the 
SQAS manager if they are not able to resolve the issue. Meetings between the 
LSCB Chair, Director of Children’s Social Care and SQAS manager have not 
occurred as frequently during this period which is a missed opportunity for senior 
managers to hear the voice of an independent. The SQAS will send quarterly 
updates in the future and will continue to be available for face to face meetings.

6.15 Adequate training on children’s needs and on legal aspects;

Update: The SQAS manager enrolled on the Advanced Practice for IROs course 
at Edge Hill University in March 2018. Funding was also secured for the IRO but 
was not accessed due to them leaving post.

6.16 Effective management and support:

Update: Achieved. There has been times when the service has been stretched as 
a result of the high number of LADO referrals.

6.17 Access to legal advice

Update: This has not been needed during this period. Cafcass plus is available for 
IROs to access.

Recommendations for the organisation – Ofsted

6.18 The recommendations made by Ofsted following their inspect need to continue to 
be progressed as outlined in the organisations ‘Next Steps’ Action plan.

Update: Regularly reviewed and progressed.

Recommendations for the organisation - SQAS

6.19 Gain a good understanding of the child’s family and networks of support at the 
earliest opportunity and parallel plan to enable the child(ren) to remain within their 
family of origin or to be placed within the family unit whenever possible.

Update: This has improved during this period and can be evidenced with fewer 
children becoming looked after and the high number of successful reunifications. 

56



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 13 of 29

In addition contact or ‘family time’ as we prefer to call it has been re-established 
for a number of children which has had a positive impact upon their emotional 
wellbeing and behaviour.

6.20 Encourage the child’s participation and engage key people at the CLA review (think 
about the arrangements: who, where and when)

Update: The majority of children attend their review. Participation is improved when 
the child has the support from an Independent Advocate. Parent’s attendance and 
participation has improved during this period. More reviews are being held in the 
child’s home after school thus enabling them to attend and minimising disruption 
to their education.

6.21 Ensure that Care plans are regularly reviewed and that they evolve as the child’s 
and parents/family circumstances change. Consider the options that are available 
or can be strengthened with support. Continue to encourage creative practice and 
the learning culture that is developing workers confidence, skills and ability to 
‘reclaim social work’.

Update: Progress has been slow as a ‘culture change’ was needed in regards to 
working in partnership with parents and families once their child(ren) became 
looked after. It has been understandably difficult to re-engage some parents and 
relevant adults after they had ‘dropped out of their children’s World for many years’. 
SQAS would recommend that services are ‘front loaded’ to enable Social Workers 
to work more effectively with families to enable them to achieve the changes that 
are needed. This should not stop when children become looked after as every 
effort needs to be made to achieve timely reunification.

6.22 Evidence the work that is undertaken, the assessments, analysis of risk, decisions 
and plans to manage risk whilst building upon the strengths. Embrace the solution 
focussed approach to improve the communication and relationships with parents 
and family of CLA.

Update: Progress has been slow and evidence of timely and effective intervention 
is limited. Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure that workers are using 
research, theory, risk assessment tools and recognised models of intervention. 

6.23 Continue to value the independent scrutiny and challenge that is being provided 
by the IRO/SQAS as a ‘critical friend’ 

Update: There have been some challenges as expected when cultural practices 
are being scrutinised and change is being ‘actively’ encouraged. The majority 

57



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 14 of 29

appear to value the support, advice and guidance that is provided. It has been 
particularly helpful and healthy to involve practitioners in the auditing process 
which provides opportunities for reflective discussions.

6.24 Social Workers and their Team Managers need to invest time in Liquid Logic (LL) 
to ensure that information and tasks are up to date. LL issues need to be resolved 
in a timely manner to enable reports to be shared within the required timeframe 
and plans to be progressed.

Update: There have been ongoing difficulties during this period, some of which are 
due to human error as tasks are not always completed when workers leave and 
when cases are transferred. Monitoring alerts have been put in place for managers. 
It is important that they use them and ensure that there is management oversight. 
Whilst it is important for practice not to be ‘process driven’ there is a need to 
evidence the efficiency and effectiveness of local authority intervention. For 
example: evidence of plans being formulated that are SMART and progressed. 
SQAS will provide brief quarterly reports which will be shared with the Head of 
Service and Director. 

7.0 QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION 

7.1 The Local Authority employs one full time Safeguarding and Quality Assurance 
Service manager (SQAS manager), who had multiple roles and responsibilities 
including Child Protection Conference Chair, Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) 
and Local Authority Designated Officer. The SQAS manager is a qualified Social 
Worker with over 20 years’ experience of front line practice and specialist roles 
including; domestic abuse, working with partners of sex offenders and child sexual 
exploitation. The SQAS manager is a Practice Educator and during this period has 
supported a member of staff who is enrolled on the Open University introductory 
module for the Social Work Degree. 

7.2 In June 2017 a permanent full-time IRO was appointed. The induction into the role 
was slow as a lot of support and guidance was needed despite the IRO holding a 
reduced caseload. As a result of performance issues the IRO made the decision 
to leave in June 2018.

7.3 As reported previously, in February 2017 SQAS were given the responsibility to 
review Supervision Orders (SOs) which have been held in line with CLA review 
timescales. The numbers of SOs have been under 13 and generally involve sibling 
groups.34 SO reviews were held during this period. 

7.4 There is a full time SQAS administrator who minutes Child Protection Conferences, 
distributes CLA review and Conference minutes, sends out invitations, and assists 

58



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 15 of 29

with other organisational aspects of the service.  Qualitative and quantitative data 
has been consistently collated during this period and shared.

7.5 The SQAS manager was made the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) in 
January 2017 and has remained in post providing some consistency and stability. 
The LADO Annual Report has been completed showing an 87% increase in 
enquiries/referrals since last year. This additional responsibility impacts upon the 
SQAS and consideration needs to be given to providing additional resources.

7.6 Rutland County Council demonstrated its commitment to supporting continual 
professional development and learning by enabling the SQAS Manager to enrol 
on the Advanced Practice for IRO’s course at Edge Hill University Manchester 
which began in March 2018. The course includes: critical review of the IRO role 
and effectiveness; working with risk; trends in use of orders under Children Act 
1989; use of theory in practice with children and their families; bias in professional 
judgement and the role of research; constructive engagement and influencing 
others; owning the IRO role. The learning mirrors the values and ethics already 
embedded into SQAS practice and will continue to be shared.

7.7 Newly Accommodated Children

9 children have been newly accommodated since April 2017. This is a decrease of 
9 compared to the 18 newly accommodated in the previous year. 

7.8 Children Previously in Care

17 children have left care since April 2017. 

7.9 Reunification 

5 children returned home with a child arrangement order. 

5 children returned to home to parents care with no additional order. 

7.10 Special Guardianship Orders

3 children were made subject to a Special Guardianship Order made to family 
members.

7.11 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) – National Transfer Scheme

1 UASC who became subject to a Child Arrangement Order to relatives who were 
previously caring for him.

7.12 Care Leavers

1 young person returned home at age 17 and is in receipt of leaving care 
services.

59



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 16 of 29

7.13 Adoption

3 children were adopted during this review period 

7.14 Children Currently In Care

At the end of March 2018 there were 30 children who were looked after by the local 
authority.  

7.15 Rutland has seen a decrease in the number of looked after children compared to 
the same period over the last 5 years. 

The national average number of CLA in England is approximately 62 for every 
10,000 children1. Rutland has a lower than average rate of 38 per 10,000 children.
The overall CLA population in Rutland is prone to fluctuate between years due to 
large sibling groups coming in or out of care. 

34 34

40
42

30

March 2014 March 2015 March 2016 March 2017 March 2018
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

5 Year Trend

Performance 

7.16 There were 71 CLA review meetings that took place during this reporting period.  
This is decrease of 43 from the previous year.  Of these, 99% (70/71) took place 
within timescale.  This is an increase of 1 percentage point from the previous period 
of 98% of reviews within timescale. 

60



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 17 of 29

7.17 Review meetings are required by statutory regulation to occur within 20 working 
days after a child has come into care.  Sometimes they are also initiated when a 
child has moved placement or a Placement Order for adoption has been granted.  
Regulations state that subsequent reviews must then be held within three months 
and then every six months thereafter.  Early reviews can be requested by the IRO 
or Social Worker in circumstances such as placement breakdown, lack of progress 
on a care plan, or significant change such as legal status

26 28

59

5

20 day 3 monthly 6 monthly Exit
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Review Meetings by Type

8.0 QUALITATIVE INFORMATION  

8.1 The majority of children and young people either participate directly in their review 
meeting or are seen either just before or after their review.

8.2 All children and young of sufficient age and understanding are sent a consultation 
booklet to complete on their wishes and feelings.  Many of them complete the 
booklets, which is either read out by the IRO in the review in the absence of the 
child or it is used as a means of helping to remind the child or young person what 
they wanted to convey in their meeting.  

8.3 The Independent Advocacy Service has increased the number of trained 
advocates from 2 to 12.The services has been re-launched with improved 
promotional materials which are much more child/young person friendly. This has 
helped to increase the number of referrals we receive and has enabled us to 
match young people and their needs to the skills set and experience of the 
advocate.

61



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 18 of 29

Trained advocates come from a range of back grounds and have wide range of 
experience and skills making the service flexible and responsive to the needs of 
our young people.  Feedback from the advocates is positive with all reporting 
they enjoy the role as they feel they are helping to empower young people.

Some of the young people have requested IA support when they move schools, 
when they want share their views about their placement and when they want to 
share their views about contact with their birth family. 

CLA access and understanding of the service was reviewed during the annual 
pledge survey – only 50% of CLA and care leavers who took part reported 
knowing about the service, this is in keeping with national statistics.  How to 
overcome this was discussed between CLA and CPB members at the big 
conversation and action plan was agreed identifying how the LA would seek to 
address this. 

8.4 All parents and carers who are still involved in the care planning process for their 
children are sent consultation booklets to complete on their wishes and feelings.  
This too is either read out by the IRO in the review in the absence of the 
parent/carer or it is used by them as a means of helping remind them what they 
wanted to convey in the meeting.  If parents chose not to attend the review, they 
are able to contact the IRO to convey their wishes to the meeting and will be sent 
a copy of the review record afterwards. 

8.5 The IRO has held a series of meetings some times when relevant people are 
unable to attend the review. 

8.6 The IRO ensures that CAFCASS Guardians are invited to reviews. The Guardians 
always send introductory letters to the SQAS manager when assuming new cases 
which allow for immediate liaison throughout care proceedings.  This reflects the 
joint working protocol established between the two services.  

62



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 19 of 29

9.0 CONDUCT OF THE ORGANISATION IN RELATION TO THE REVIEW

9.1 Children’s Social Care underwent restructuring to form four teams: Referral 
Assessment and Intervention Service, Protection Team, Permanency Team, 
Fostering, Adoption and Care Leavers Service. 1 additional Team Manager post 
was created and a Practice Consultant was appointed. The restructuring did have 
an impact upon the reviews and the Children Looked After as it involved changes 
in Social Workers and some had not had sufficient time to develop a relationship 
with the children before their review. Feedback from the children, young people, 
parents and the carers raised concerns regarding the changes which they found 
difficult which is understandable when they had developed a relationship with their 
previous Social Worker.

9.2 99% of CLA reviews have been held within the required timescale which is a slight 
improvement on the previous year.

9.3 There has been ongoing difficulties in regards to Social Work reports being 
available before reviews meetings (see 4.9 and table). This is mainly due to 
difficulties with the Social Care Management System (SCMS) that is being used 
as it has a built in pathway that is linked to others tasks which if not completed 
prevents progression. The Social Work Teams and SQAS work in partnership 
when difficulties are identified to resolve them in a timely manner or to find other 
solutions i.e. reports are recorded on a word document and distributed in the 
interim period. Business Support have been requested to keep a record of the 
distribution date on Liquid Logic when the report cannot be completed on the 
system for quality assurance purposes.

9.4 Care plans are discussed in review meetings to make any necessary changes 
according to the child’s evolving needs. Social Workers need to ensure that the 
Care plan is regularly updated and distributed. 

9.5 Pathway Plans have not been available in all cases for the review after the child’s 
16th birthday and within three months of them reaching their 16th birthday. Young 
people who have arrived in care later than their 16th birthday have not always been 
assessed for Pathway plans ready for their final reviews.  The Personal Adviser 
has been introduced to young people before the Pathway Plan has been 
completed which is positive as the Personal Advisor can take a pro-active role at 
the right stage, particularly if the young person is planning to leave care. This 
includes providing advice about entitlements post care. Feedback has been 
positive.

 
9.6 Carers always attend review meetings and more have been happy to host review 

meetings in their homes or residential settings which is best practice. Multi-agency 

63



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 20 of 29

attendance is good of those professionals regularly involved. This is also the case 
when children are placed out of county. 

9.7 Reviews are rarely attended by the Rutland CLA nurse, due to their capacity. 
Improvements have been made in regards to CLA medicals taking place within 
timescale.  

9.8 Personal Education Plans (PEP) are regularly and proactively reviewed.  The 
Virtual School Head has established that all PEP’s will be reviewed three times per 
year, which exceeds the statutory requirement that these be reviewed every six 
months.  There is a strong emphasis placed within the local authority on good 
quality education provision for looked after children. The PEP meetings have 
continued to be chaired by the Social Workers who also have the responsibility for 
recording the meeting. The Social Inclusion Development Officer attends the PEP 
to offer advice and support which is very valuable given her knowledge and area 
of expertise. 

10.0 CONDUCT OF THE ORGANISATION IN RELATION TO THE CASE 

10.1 The SQAS has raised a number of ‘Practice Alerts’ regarding the service provided 
to CLA this year. The dispute resolution policy is used for cases where there is on-
going concern about an issue which needs to be escalated. The dispute resolution 
process is an agreed procedure where cases are raised firstly with Team 
Managers, then to the Service Manager, then Head of Service, then to the Director 
of Children’s Services and finally to the Chair of the Local Safeguarding Children’s 
Board. Responses are required within 5 working days to prevent any further delay. 
At any stage during the dispute resolution process the IRO has the authority to 
refer cases to CAFCASS if the IRO considers it appropriate to do so. 

10.2 During the year Practice Alerts raised have related to issues of care plan decisions 
not being acted upon and thus creating drift in cases, poor communication with 
parents, contact not being facilitated at the levels required to meet individual 
children’s needs and a number of other practice issues that could and should be 
avoidable. At the end of this reporting period all of the alerts were resolved, 
however some were repeats on the same case for the same issue. They were 
appropriately escalated to the Service Manager and Head of Service to enable 
them to address practice concerns. Cases that have been subject to Practice Alerts 
are monitored by the IRO and SQAS manager. The Practice Alert is recorded onto 
Liquid Logic (LL), Social Care Management System to evidence the independent 
oversight along with the date when the issue was resolved. The detail contained 
within the Practice Alert was previously stored within the SQAS T9 folder. This was 
changed during this reporting period and is now recorded in full onto LL which 

64



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 21 of 29

makes it more transparent and evidences the quality assurance and challenge 
along with responses and resolution. The data can be collated directly from LL 
rather than relying on spreadsheets that were previously retained by SQAS. There 
have been no cases that the IRO has needed to refer higher than the Head of 
Service during this reporting period. 

10.3 There has been an ongoing focus this reporting period on placing children with 
family members and on reunification following a period of assessment and 
identified parenting work being completed successfully. 

10.4 In 2015 Chief Justice Munby gave a ruling against Coventry for the misuse of 
Section 20 agreements.  His ruling highlighted a common practice of local 
authorities misusing this section of the act by not obtaining clear consent or having 
placements last for years under this arrangement when more formal orders should 
be sought.  In reviewing the Section 20 arrangements in Rutland, the SQAS is 
satisfied that appropriate orders are now in place for all of the CLA. 

Placements

10.5 SQAS and the Independent Advocacy Service are able to report that the majority of 
CLA feel that their voices are being heard and they are happy with their placement. 
Significant progress has been made in regards to re-engaging parents, extended 
family and significant adults to maintain contact and to strengthen the relationships 
which is a challenge when children/young people are placed out of area but 
important to maintain relationships and placement stability.  

10.6 There is a small number of children who have remained subjects of Care Orders 
despite being placed within their family unit for many years (one 6 year old child 
since birth), being settled, safe and happy. It is important to note that children who 
are living with their family are not always happy to be perceived as being ‘a child 
looked after’ and some have refused to attend their reviews. It is important that we 
hear their voices and respect their wishes particularly as they become older as they 
have spoken about the ‘stigma’ that they feel. The difficulties are two-fold as the 
local authority have statutory duties that need to be undertaken which can be 
intrusive and can result in unnecessary tension for all involved.  SQAS has 
requested the local authority to open dialogue with the families to explore other 
options and any barriers. It is important to recognise that there may be financial 
concerns if families fear payments that they have relied on may stop. The local 
authority are able to provide financial support in such circumstances and SQAS 
would invite them to be creative.

65



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 22 of 29

14
13

10

2 2
1

Connected 
People

External Foster 
Carers

Internal foster 
carers

Residential Prospective 
Adopters

BACCA
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

CLA in Placement Type

10.7 The adoption team is usually involved early once a referral is made and the Agency 
Decision Maker (ADM) has agreed a plan of adoption.  This service is provided to 
Rutland by the Adoption Service in Leicestershire.  At the end of this reporting 
period there was 1 child awaiting adoption. The previous difficulties in regards to 
drift have now been addressed and close monitoring is in place to ensure that 
permanence is achieved within the appropriate timeframe for each individual child.

Education Training and Employment

10.8 All CLA have a Personal Education Plan (PEP) which is regularly reviewed to 
ensure that their individual needs are recognised and responded to. Good working 
relationships and practice has been established between Children’s Social Care, 
the Virtual Head Teacher and the Inclusion Officer. Bespoke and creative 
packages of support are put in place when needed. There has been a proactive 
approach to early identification of Children with Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities to enable them to be aware of the support services available which they 
are actively encouraged to access. Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) 
are in place for CLA when required.

10.9 The Virtual Head Teacher provides an invaluable service in terms of oversight and 
scrutiny to ensure that all schools in or out of the county give Rutland’s CLA priority.  
There is a high emphasis on ensuring CLA are placed in schools with a good to 
outstanding rating as per the Governments new guidelines.  Statutory guidance 
states PEPs must be reviewed at least every six months.  However, the Virtual 

66



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 23 of 29

Head Teacher has established a proactive working practice that PEPs will be 
reviewed at least three times per year, exceeding the statutory requirements.  

10.10 The qualitative data that evidences the educational provision for CLA is now being 
shared with the IRO/ SQAS.

Health

10.11 Initial and Review Health Assessments are now being completed within the 
required timescale which is encouraging. Acknowledgement of this achievement 
needs to be given to the individual Children’s Social Care administrator who has 
been the driving force.

Independent Advocacy

10.12 The Targeted Youth Service continues to provide the Local Authority’s Advocacy 
Service to ensure that all CLA have access to an advocate if required. 

10.13 There are now 15 members of Rutland staff who are National Youth Advisory 
Service (NYAS) accredited level three advocates.  They are independently line 
managed from the Children’s Social Care teams and the SQAS service.

10.14 All children who are looked after are offered support from an Independent 
Advocate and are provided information about the service. It is encouraging to see 
that 11 children have accessed the support and feedback has been positive.

11.0 Recommendations for the IRO service and organisation 2017-2018

Recommendations for the IRO/SQAS

11.1 Appointment of an experienced full-time permanent IRO/CP Chair 

11.2 Continue to share research, information, knowledge and experience to develop 
practice and services for children and families

11.3 Use learning and themes from case audits in a constructive and empowering way

11.4 Continue to be inclusive in regards to children and their families

Recommendations for the organisation – Ofsted

11.5  ‘Next Steps’ Action plan needs to be progressed.

67



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 24 of 29

Recommendations for the organisation – SQAS (remain the same as previous year)

11.6 Gain a good understanding of the child’s family and networks of support at the 
earliest opportunity and parallel plan to enable the child(ren) to remain within their 
family of origin or to be placed within the family unit whenever possible.

11.7 Encourage the child’s participation and engage key people at the CLA review (think 
about the arrangements: who, where and when)

11.8 Ensure that Care plans are regularly reviewed and that they evolve as the child’s 
and parents/family circumstances change. Consider the options that are available 
or can be strengthened with support. Continue to encourage creative practice and 
the learning culture that is developing workers confidence, skills and ability to 
‘reclaim social work’.

11.9 Evidence the work that is undertaken, the assessments, analysis of risk, decisions 
and plans to manage risk whilst building upon the strengths. Embrace the solution 
focussed approach to improve the communication and relationships with parents 
and family of CLA.

11.10 Continue to value the independent scrutiny and challenge that is being provided 
by the IRO/SQAS as a ‘critical friend’. 

11.11 Social Workers and their Team Managers need to invest time in Liquid Logic (LL) 
to ensure that information and tasks are up to date. LL issues need to be resolved 
in a timely manner to enable reports to be shared within the required timeframe 
and plans to be progressed.

11.12 Front load services that can work systemically and intensively with families where 
there are safeguarding concerns to prevent children becoming looked after and to 
achieve reunification when children have become looked after. I would recommend 
developing a Multi-Systemic Therapy Service drawing from the resources already 
available and building upon the knowledge, skills and experience of workers. 

Tracy Holliday
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service Manager
Completed August 2018

68



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 25 of 29

Appendix A IRO Checklist

Child’s name:______________________________  IRO: 
_________________________

Date of CLA Review: ________________________  Time: 
________________________

Social worker:  _____________________________  Team: 
________________________

Practice Alert

Did issues arising from this review trigger the use of the 
Practice Alert?  Yes      No

If so, please specify why: ______________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________

Child and Family Details and Participation

Were all the child, family and placement details correct?  Yes      No

Were all known relevant family members details included?  Yes      No

Child/YP attendance and participation (check all that apply):     under 4       attended
 DNA     participated      advocate       did not contribute      assisted     symbolic

If child/YP did not attend, was their views sought and shared?  Yes      No     N/A

Did the IRO meet the child/YP as part of the review?  Yes      No

Did the YP chair their review meeting?                  Yes      Declined      Not appropriate

Did the parents attend the review?  Yes      No

If the parents did not attend, were their views sought and shared?  Yes      No     N/A

Social Worker’s Report and Child’s Plans

Days prior the report was received by the IRO:   None   day of    1   2   3+

Days prior the child/YP received the report:  N/A    day of    1   2   3+

Days prior the parents/carers received the report:   None   day of    1   2   3+

How would you rate the quality of the report?  Inad.    R.I.   Good   Out.

Did the report include the views of the parents/carers?  Yes      No     N/A

Did the report include the views of the child/YP?  Yes      No     Not Fraser 

69



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 26 of 29

Was there evidence that the social worker engaged 
well with other agencies and the family?  Yes      No

Was the care plan updated in the last 12 months?  Yes      No

Does the care plan provide permanence for the child?  Yes      No

If 16+, does the child have an up to date pathway 
plan?  Yes      No     Under 16

Review Reasons and Legal Status

Type:    Initial 28 day         Second 3 months        Subsequent 6 months      Final

Reason for review:      Newly accomm.     Placement move      Adoption     Ongoing

Did the review happen within timescale?  Yes      No

    If out of timescale, why?    SW unavailable        IRO unavailable      Late notification
 C/YP unavailable     Venue issues           Legal issues

Type of placement:  Foster carer     Residential     Connected persons     SGO
 Adoption          Secure unit     Short break   

Is the child/YP also on a child protection plan?  Yes      No

    If yes, state outcome:  Remains     Discharged

What is the child’s legal status?   S.20    ICO     FCO     PO    Remand     Secure

What is the permanency plan for the child/YP?       Adoption    Return home     SGO
 Long term fostering (kinship)     Long term fostering (LA)     Independence

Practice and Attendance Issues

Date the IRO met the child/YP: ____________________

Were all relevant people invited to attend the review?  Yes      No     Some

    If no or some, why?     Sent regrets   YP did not want      No reason    Consulted

Did all professionals in attendance participate effectively?  Yes      No     Some

Did the allocated social worker attend?  Yes      No

    If another SW/manager attended were they well informed?  Yes      No     N/A

Was an interpreter present if required?  Yes      No     N/A

Was there evidence of good practice in this case?  Yes      No

    If yes, was feedback given to the worker / agency?  Yes      No

Was there evidence of drift or delay with the care plan?  Yes      No

70



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 27 of 29

Does the child/YP have a PEP updated in the last 6 months?  Yes      No      <4

Has the child/YP had a CLA medical in the last 6-12 months?  Yes      No

Has the child/YP had a dental check in the last 12 months?  Yes      No     <1

Has the child/YP had an eye check in the last two years?  Yes      No

Has the child/YP been offered an advocate or independent 
visitor?  Yes      No     N/A

 good practice is defined as going above the minimum expectations of practice expected in all cases in 
order to achieve a more beneficial outcome for the child

Reasons for CLA status  (check all that apply)
Domestic violence Drugs or alcohol abuse Unaccom. minor/Asylum
Parent mental health Criminal / anti-social Child disability/illness
Physical abuse Sexual abuse Emotional abuse
Child trafficking Low income Fabricated illness
CSE (sexual exploit.) Neglect Forced marriage
FGM (genital mutilation) Family dysfunction NAI (non-accidental)
Parent disability/illness Family in acute stress Absent parenting
Child frequently missing Gang activity Self-harming/Suicidal
History of abuse Beyond parental control Abandoned/relinquished

Additional comments: 
__________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________
_

____________________________________________________________________________
_

Signature of IRO: ________________________________ Date: 
___________________

Please give this to the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance administrator within 2 working days 
of completing this review meeting.  Note:  the review cannot be considered completed until the 
IRO has met with the child or young person.

Month Number of reviews Reports received 
within 3 working 
days

Number of days report was 
completed before review

71



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 28 of 29

April 8 0 3 - 2 days before
3 - on day
2 - 12 days after review

May 7 1 1 – 3 days before
2 – 2 days before

June 12 10 1-27 days before (rescheduled)
3 – 2 days before
2 – 1 day before
4 on day
1 – 11 days after review

July 10 7 1 – 6 days before
1 – 5 days before
1 – 3 days before
6 – 1 day before
1 – on day 

August 6 6 1 – 2 days before
5 – 1 day before

September 9 8 2 – 2 days before
1 – 1 day before
1 – on day
1 – 3 days after review
1 - 4 days after review

October 7 5 1 – 10 days before
1 – 3 days before
5 – 1 day before

November 15 7 5 – 37 days before (rescheduled 
sibling group)
3 – 3 days before
2 – 2 days before
2 – on day

December 8 5 2 - 5 days before
4 – 2 days before
1 – 1 day before
1 – 5 days after review

January 6 5 1 – 4 days before
2 – 2 days before
3 – 1 day before

February 4 3 1 – 22 days before (rescheduled)
1 - 1 day before
1 – on day
1 – not completed before

March 4 3 1 – 10 days before
1 – 2 days before
2 – on day (word)

72



Annual IRO Report - 2017 to 2018 Page 29 of 29
73



This page is intentionally left blank



Report No: 207/2018
PUBLIC REPORT

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY PANEL
22 NOVEMBER 2018

CHILD PROTECTION SERVICE 

ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
Report of the Strategic Director for People

Strategic Aim: Safeguarding

Exempt Information No

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible:

Mr Richard Foster, Portfolio Holder for Safeguarding - 
- Children and Young People

Contact Officer(s): Cathy Smith, Head of Childrens 
Social Care

Tel: 01572 758859
Csmith@rutland.gov.uk

Ward Councillors All

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Panel:

1. Notes the content of the Child Protection Annual Report 2017-18.

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 This is our Annual Activity Report 2017-18 with regards to Child Protection Activity.

1.2 The report will outline statutory responsibilities as well as aims and objectives for 
2018/19

1.3 The report will offer oversight of Rutland data with regards to Children subject to 
Child Protection.

1.4 The report also highlights the journey and improvement of our safeguarding 
services.

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS 

2.1 The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service (SQAS) organises and Chairs 
Initial Child Protection Conferences and Child Protection Review Conferences.

75

Agenda Item 12

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


2.2 Initial Child Protection Conferences, are in relation to referrals and S47 enquiries.

2.3 Where the local authority has identified that there is reasonable cause to suspect a 
child is suffering, or is likely to suffer significant harm, it will carry out an assessment 
under section 47 of the Children Act 1989 to determine if it needs to take steps to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of the children.

2.4 The report outlines Rutland activity over the last year.

3 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The activity report for child protection is attached to offer oversight into the position 
of our child protection services.

3.2 During this period there have been 40 individual children subject to Child Protections 
Plans from 20 families including 1 unborn babies.

3.3 The rate per 10.000 children subject to a Child Protection Plan has consistently been 
below the national average of 43.1%.

3.4 Four Initial Child Protection Conferences were held which resulted in the threshold 
not being met for 4 children.  Child in Need Plans were formulated at the Conference 
to ensure that the appropriate support was provided.

3.5 37% Child Protection Conferences had Domestic Abuse identified as a factor.

3.6 24% of children’s Child Protection Plans concluded between 6 and 12 months, 
which is the expected time for the majority of Child Protection Plans to reach 
conclusion.

3.7 88.3% children subject to Child Protection Plans in Rutland are White British.

3.8 The gender profile of children subject to a Child Protection Plan in Rutland 
(excluding unborn) is 55% male: 45% female.

3.9 The report, attached as Appendix A, outlines a number of recommendations and 
areas for focus to continue to improve our services during 2018-19.

4 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

4.1 There are no additional background papers to the report.

5 APPENDICES 

5.1 Appendix A: Child Protection Annual Report 2017-18

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577. 

76



Page 1 of 21

Child Protection 
Annual Report

2017-2018

77



Page 2 of 21

Contents

1.0 Introduction

2.0 Conference Model

3.0 Conference Attendance

4.0 Child Protection Plans

5.0 Quality Assurance

6.0 Performance

7.0 Staffing

8.0 Number of Children Subject of Child Protection Plans

9.0 Abuse Categories for Children Subject of a Child Protection Plan

10.0 Profile of Children Subject of a Child Protection Plan

11.0 Child Protection Cases Reviewed Within Timescale

12.0 Children Becoming Subject of a Child Protection Plan for a Second or Subsequent Time

13.0 Duration of a Child Protection Plan

14.0 Feedback from Conference Participants

15.0 Social Work Practice

16.0 Organisational Culture

17.0 Leadership

18.0 Consistency

19.0 Key Plan 2017 - 2018

78



Page 3 of 21

1.  Introduction

‘Protection is best achieved by building on the existing strengths of the child’s living 

environment, rather than expecting miracles from isolated and spasmodic 

interventions’

1.1. Child Protection Messages from Research (1995)

During this reporting period of 2016-2017 ‘Signs of Safety’ which is a solution focussed 

and strengths based approach to casework was introduced in Rutland and is 

continuing to be embedded. There is evidence to suggest that improvements have 

been made since the Ofsted Inspection was undertaken when some ‘signs’ of good 

practice was acknowledged although it was difficult to measure given the short time 

that had passed since the training had been completed. It is important to note that 

whilst Signs of Safety is a methodology that consists of many useful tools and skills, it 

needs to be an approach that is valued and embedded within the whole organisation 

to be as effective as it can be. This report will outline the changes that have been 

made during this period, the challenges, learning and improvements that are still 

needed to be made. 

1.2. History of Child Protection Conference

The Child Protection Conference came into being in the UK in the 1970s following the 

death of Maria Colwell. Originally, its purpose was for professionals to meet to share 

information and it assumed a traditional business meeting methodology well suited to 

this purpose. Since the introduction of the Children Act 1989 Child Protection 

Conferences have become an event that aims to lead to partnership working between 

professionals and family members and parents are routinely invited to attend following 

section 47 enquiries. Its purpose is:

 To bring together and analyse, in an inter-agency setting, the information that 

has been obtained about the child’s developmental needs and the parents’ or 

carers capacity to respond to these needs to ensure the child’s safety and 

promote the child’s health and development, within the context of their wider 

family and environment;

79



Page 4 of 21

 To consider the evidence presented to the conference and taking into account 

the child’s present situation and information about his or her family 

 history and present and past family functioning, make judgements about the 

likelihood of the child suffering significant harm in the future and decide whether 

the child is continuing to, or is likely to, suffer significant harm; and

 To decide what future action is required in order to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of the child, including the child becoming the subject of a child 

protection plan, what the planned developmental outcomes are for the child and 

how best to intervene to achieve these.

Working Together to Safeguard Children. A guide for inter-agency working to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children (2010) p161

 

The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service (SQAS) organises and Chairs 

Initial Child Protection Conferences and Child Protection Review Conferences. 

No serious incidents notifications have been submitted to Ofsted, and no serious 

case reviews have been completed during this period.

More children in the UK are in need of help or protection. There have been various 

hypothesis and discussions analysing the national increase. The National Audit Office 

produced “Children in need of help or protection” in October 2016 and stated:

More children need help or protection for several reasons. High profile cases, such 

as Baby P and Daniel Pelka, can lead to more people reporting concerns to local 

authorities. There are also more children. Between 2010 and 2014, the number of 

children age17-years-old in England increased by 5% or 550,000.

In 2014-15, the most common risk to a child’s welfare was domestic violence (flagged 

in 48% of assessments) and mental health concerns (about the child or other family 

members – 33% of assessments). Published statistics show that the number of 

domestic abuse cases and mental health problems are growing. 

The government and local authorities are becoming more aware of threats to 

children’s welfare including radicalisation, child sexual exploitation or gang culture. 80



Page 5 of 21

These threats are still relatively rare. For example, child sexual exploitation was 

identified in just 3% of assessments. Local authorities told us, however, that they 

expect to see more cases in future as their awareness of child sexual exploitation and 

other risks grow.

Some of these trends can be seen in this report i.e. domestic abuse. The data has 

been analysed to enable us to gain a better understanding of the issue and how key 

agencies are responding to it. I have made some observations and 

recommendations at the end of the report which I am hoping will enable us to 

improve our response as a local authority and as an organisation who commissions 

services as it is important that we evidence that public spending is effective and 

efficient as in ‘value for money’. We need to ensure that children do not remain 

subjects of Child Protection Plans for prolonged periods by providing interventions 

that are effective which means being holistic in approach.

2. Conference Model

The Signs of Safety model was introduced in Rutland during in September 2016 

following a role out of multi-agency training. The Signs of Safety model is a solution 

focused child protection casework model which was chosen to replace the traditional 

model to improve participation for families and therefore maximise opportunity for 

participation for children and young people.

The assessment and planning form with danger on the left and safety on the right, 

forms the basic structure for the Strengthening Families Framework.

Firstly, the methodology enables information to be shared in such a way that it is 

‘sifted’ and organised to help participants attach risk value/meaning to each piece of 

information and ultimately the whole picture. Secondly, the process of the meeting 

and its impact on participants is attended to so that the key tension of the conference 

– between professional concerns about child safety and family fears of child removal 

– is eased as much as it can be through a structure which is family friendly and 

respectful on the one hand; and rigorous about identifying and addressing danger to 

children on the other.

81



Page 6 of 21

3. Conference Attendance 
Children over the age of 11 years are invited to attend their conference. Each child’s 

individual needs are considered and a plan of support is formulated. During this 

period very few children have attended their conference. The Independent 

Advocacy Service has been developed during this period and are able to provide 

support when requested. When they have been involved children’s voices are 

better heard and their participation is improved. 11 children accessed the support.

A critical element of the Child Protection Conference Chair role is monitoring individual 

cases to identify and challenge issues of drift, delay or poor practice. On behalf of the 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Board the Conference 

Chairs do this for all the partner agencies who contribute to Child Protection 

Conferences.

Partner agencies attendance at Child Protection Conferences has been a concern, 

particularly the Police which is due to an increased numbers of Child Protection 

Conferences being held across the three areas that they serve. There has also been 

poor attendance from the Specialist Domestic Abuse Service, despite being 

commissioned by the Local Authority. We have seen improvements in regards to 

attendance and partnership working with the Substance Misuse Service and the 

Probation Service. Learning Disability Teams and the Mental Health Service have not 

been as involved as they should have been, particularly with families who have a 

multitude of complex needs and difficulties. Agency attendance and participation has 

improved over this period which is possibly as a result of the letters that have been 

sent by the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service when agencies failed to 

attend previously.

52 Child Protection Conferences were held. Statutory agency attendance is 

recorded and monitored by SQAS:

82



Page 7 of 21

* TIP = Targeted Intervention Practitioner

(Following referral to Children’s Social Care and assessments being completed 

identification of risk factors is essential to ensure that key agencies are invited to 

attend the Child Protection Conferences – it is the Social Workers responsibility to 

complete the invitation form and the agencies responsibility to respond and to clarify 

their involvement). 

Of the 52 Child Protection Conferences 20 involved domestic abuse being a risk 

factor. Despite this there was a very low attendance by the Police and the Specialist 

Domestic Abuse Services which is concerning as the majority have been assessed 

as being high risk and were discussed at the Multi Agency Risk Assessment 

Conference (MARAC) which assesses and manages the risk by formulating a plan 

of coordinated support and protection. It is important for the two processes run in 

parallel to make best use of resources and to ensure that children are appropriately 

safeguarded. When a MARAC has been held before a Child Protection Conference 

the assessment of risk is known, however the plan of intervention has not always 

been shared and this has been an ongoing concern.  

Statutory agency reports are recorded and monitored by SQAS. Partner agencies 

are required to share their reports with the family prior to them sending them to 

SQAS 2 days before an Initial Child Protection Conference and 3 days before a 

Review Child Protection Conference. For some of the Conferences this has not 

been achieved although there has been some improvements since last year. The 83



Page 8 of 21

consequences of this are that the family have not had sufficient time to prepare 

which can result in them becoming distressed and challenging during the 

Conference. It also makes the Conferences long in duration as the Chair ensures 

that the family have read the reports before the Conference begins and time is often 

spent correcting the information provided which could have been done beforehand. 

This is particularly concerning when children attend their Conference and witness 

their parents in conflict with professionals who have developed positive 

relationships with them.

Children’s Social Care is required to provide a report for the Initial Child Protection 

Conferences that often contains information collated from the parents and key 

professionals. The Social Worker has the responsibility to undertake the 

assessment and the report which also evidences the management oversight. The 

required timescale for the report to be shared with the family and SQAS is 1 working 

day. The child’s ‘voice’ and lived experience has not been consistently captured as 

well as it could be. Very often the majority of the information relates to the parents 

and their difficulties. The reports have lacked in analysis and there is little reference 

to theory and research.

Social Workers are required to complete Genograms which identify significant 

family members and family friends who can become involved to provide support 

and safeguarding which is known to be effective and reduce the need for long 

periods of professional intervention. Given that the aim of the Child Protection 

Conference is to safeguard the child(ren) it is important to develop the child’s 

network of support which should be primarily made up from family members, family 

friends and key professionals – in that order as professionals do not have the 

capacity to provide high levels of monitoring and it is better that children receive 

support from people who they have formed meaningful relationships with. It is no 

surprise that children do not talk openly about abuse to their teachers and health 

workers. Siblings are more likely to talk to each other and extended family when 

they are aware of their circumstances, hence the need for them to be invited to the 

‘child’s’ Conference. When this happens the plan is more effective and parents are 

able to be open following long periods of secrecy. Most importantly the length of 

Child Protection Plan is significantly reduced when extended family members have 

been identified and involved in the Child Protection Conferences and Core Group 

meetings who have the responsibility to progress the actions that are formulated at 

the Conference. The other benefit of early identification of extended family is for 84



Page 9 of 21

parallel planning and assessments which enables decisions to be made in a timely 

way and can prevent a child becoming Looked After. We have seen a slight 

improvement in regards to extended family and friends attending Conferences and 

Family Group Conferences have been arranged with very successful outcomes. 

SQAS (Safeguarding Quality Assurance Service) have been capturing the 

qualitative data needed throughout the whole of this period which has enabled us 

to evidence the impact that the service has made in regards to professionals 

working in a more open and inclusive way with children and their families.  

Feedback has been collated and analysed throughout the year which indicates that 

children and their families feel more comfortable and therefore feel more able to 

participate in Conferences particular when they have Independent Advocacy 

support. 

4. Child Protection Plans

The quality of Child Protection Plans have been strengthened as plans are formulated 

in partnership with the family during the Conference meeting which results in improved 

engagement and actions being realistic and achievable rather than families ‘feeling 

done to’. The Plan is written in family-friendly language and contains SMART 

outcomes, clear measures of reduced risk and time-limited contingency plans. As 

previously mentioned – there was no evidence of children being involved in the 

formulation and review of ‘their’ Child Protection Plan. Case audits undertaken 

throughout the year have highlighted some concerns in regards to Plans not being 

consistently SMART as it is not always clear how the plan will achieve the desired 

outcome.

There has been ongoing concerns regarding the Core Group not been sufficiently 

effective in progressing the Child Protection Plans and this has been evident at 

subsequent Child Protection Review Conferences which has resulted in the child(ren) 

remaining the subject of a Child Protection Plan. The ‘outline’ Child Protection Plan is 

formulated at the Initial Child Protection Conference which should evolve as it is 

progressed. Some of the difficulties arise when the allocated Social Worker leaves 

and the case is transferred to a new worker. It is important for workers to ‘pick up the 

baton’ rather than starting the assessment process again and for the Core Group to 

refer to the Plan and consider the need to identify alternative services or take a 

different approach to prevent drift. The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service 85



Page 10 of 21

who are responsible for the conferences and oversight of the Plan have provided 

consistent advice and clear messages to partner agencies and have echoed the 

families concerns when this has happened. During this reporting period there were a 

number of agency social workers and Children’s Social Care teams underwent some 

restructuring which resulted in children and families having a change of worker and 

Child Protection Plans not being sufficiently progressed. Not surprisingly there was an 

increase in the number of Practice Alerts during the restructuring period. In regards to 

lessons learnt the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service would recommend 

that the local authority invest more time for the purpose of risk assessment prior to any 

further changes.

5. Quality Assurance

The Signs of Safety Quality Assurance System is based on Signs of Safety 

organisational and practice theories of change – the essential elements of the 

practice that deliver outcomes and Signs of Safety fidelity – focussing attention on 

how workers practice and how organisations manage and lead learning consistent 

with Signs of Safety principles and practice. 

The Signs of Safety Quality Assurance System encompasses:

 Collaborative case audit reflecting the Signs of Safety theories of change 

(undertaken with the key worker);

 Family feedback on practice and staff feedback on organisational fit and 

leadership reflecting Signs of Safety fidelity; and

 Core data for monitoring case trends and outcomes with a small set of key 

indicators that are already collected.

Each month we aim to complete 2 case audits where a child is subject of a Child 

Protection Plan. There have been 4 months when only 1 case audit was completed 

for this selected category due to resource pressures and competing prioritises. 

Audits focus on compliance with statutory visits, children’s wishes and feelings being 

clear, Core Group multi-agency attendance, quality and the progress of the Child 

Protection Plan. This is leading to earlier identification of drift and delay for children 

with an agreed escalation process to support the Social Workers to address the 

identified concerns. Where themes are identified Learning Workshops have been 

developed and delivered.
86



Page 11 of 21

6. Performance 

Adherence to statutory timescales around the Conference process are monitored 

monthly and reviewed by Senior Managers. Performance data is used to ensure 

practice and capacity issues are addressed in a timely manner.

The SQAS has worked hard to maintain the performance targets set within the 

National Framework over the last twelve months. It has maintained the electronic 

diary system for Initial and Review conferences.

SQAS accepted and embraced the findings from the Ofsted Inspection report 2017 

and have ensured that there is evidence of timely, appropriate and effective 

challenging when there has been poor-quality assessments and plans or delays in 

improving outcomes for children. SQAS have ensured that children have remained 

subject of Child Protection plans until the required changes have been made and there 

has been evidence that the changes can be sustained. This has been achievable as 

the Child Protection Conference Chair is authorised by the local authority to make the 

decision. 

Following the Inspection SQAS developed an electronic record of all Practice Alerts 

that have been raised and further escalations when the issues have not been resolved. 

The information is shared with the Service Manager and is analysed to identify any 

practice and performance issues that need to be addressed in 1-1 supervision. The 

Practice Alerts have also enabled SQAS to identify themes which results in learning 

workshops being developed and delivered for practitioners to attend along with 

specific case learning reviews for the case worker(s) and managers. 

There is evidence of quality assurance at every conference as information is being 

captured by the SQAS. The data and themes are shared with senior managers at the 

performance meetings which are held regularly and result in clear actions being 

agreed to address any concerns. Good Practice is highlighted and feedback is 

provided. In addition to this, examples of good practice are shared to aid other workers 

in their development.  

87



Page 12 of 21

7. Staffing
During this reporting period SQAS has had a full-time permanent manager who has 

had the responsibility to Chair Child Protection Conferences and approximately half 

of the Children Looked After Reviews until a full-time permanent Independent 

Reviewing Officer (IRO) was appointed in May 2017. Despite the small caseload, 

extensive training and support provided the IRO was unable to take over the 

responsibility for Charing Child Protection Conferences. This impacted upon the 

SQAS Managers ability to invest the time needed to work at a strategic level. The IRO 

remained in post until March 2018 and the SQAS manager covered until the post was 

filled.

The SQAS Manager is a qualified Social Worker, with many years post qualifying 

Children’s Social Work and management experience. They have brought their 

breadth of knowledge and experience in regards to domestic abuse, child sexual 

exploitation and sexual abuse to the service. Monthly 1:1 supervision is provided by 

the Children’s Social Care Head of Service. Peer support is available from 

neighbouring authorities which is accessed and monthly performance meetings are 

being held with Children’s Social Care. 

The Conference Chair is supported in their work by 1 full time Business Support 

Officer who arranges the Conferences and takes and circulates the records of 

Conference. Given the size of the service the role is pivotal to its success. 

The average caseload during this period has been 23 children which is below the 

recommended number. The SQAS Manager was also responsible for over 20 CLA 

reviews and the SQAS Manager is the Local Authority Designated Officer, it is 

important to note that during this reporting period there was an 87% increase in LADO 

enquiries/referrals. Some LADO investigations were very serious in nature, complex 

and lengthy. That said, the Child Protection caseload was managed well with no 

Conferences going out of timescale.

8. Number of Children Subject of Child Protection Plans

Initial Child Protection Conferences, in relation to referrals and s47 enquiries. A referral 

is defined as a request for services to be provided by children’s social care and is in 

respect of a child who is not currently in need. In 2017-18 there was a national 0.12% 

88



Page 13 of 21

decrease in the number of referrals made. Children’s Social Care received 305 

referrals during this period. This was a 26% decrease on last year.

If the local authority identified there is reasonable cause to suspect a child is 

suffering, or is likely to suffer significant harm, it will carry out an assessment under 

section 47 of the Children Act 1989 to determine if it needs to take steps to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of the children. Nationally there was a 7.4% 

increase in s47 enquiries over 2016-2017. Last year 94 referrals resulted in a 

section 47 multi-agency strategy discussion.

If concerns are substantiated and the child is judged to be at continuing risk of harm 

then an Initial Child Protection Conference should be convened within 15 working 

days. Nationally this increase was 1.5% in 2016-2017. 35 of the section 47 multi-

agency strategy discussions resulted in a request for an Initial Child Protection 

Conference.

During this period there have been 40 individual children subject to Child Protections 

Plans from 20 families including 1 unborn babies. 

The rate per 10.000 children subject to a Child Protection Plan has consistently been 

below the national average of 43.1%

4 Initial Child Protection Conferences were held which resulted in the threshold not 

being met for 4 children.  Child in Need Plans were formulated at the Conference to 

ensure that the appropriate support was provided.

On the 31st March 2018 there were 19 children who were subject of a Child Protection 

Plan.

9. Abuse Categories for Children Subject of a Child Protection Plan

The numbers of children subject to the different abuse categories are similar to last 

year and national figures. Although in Rutland we are not in line with the national trend 

of Neglect being the most common category for a Child Protection Plan. 

89



Page 14 of 21

emotional abuse 20 50%



neglect 18 45% 

physical abuse 0 0% 

sexual abuse 2 5% 

40 100%

Note: Percentages are shown to nearest whole number. Total may not add to 100% due to 
rounding. 

The Emotional Abuse category is often used for cases of Domestic Abuse due to 

‘seeing or hearing the ill treatment of another’ and managing these cases in a different 

way could lead to a reduction in the number of children subject to Child Protection 

Plans, for example within the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC). 

Across England, in March 2017 49.9% children assessed had Domestic Abuse 

identified as a factor. 

In Rutland 37% Child Protection Conferences had Domestic Abuse identified as a 

factor. The category of Neglect has been used for the majority of these cases as there 

was a concern that the children were at risk of emotional/psychological and physical 

harm, particularly older male children who are more likely to intervene to protect the 

victim parent or a young child who was at risk of being harmed due to their level of 

dependency.

Brief analysis of the Rutland cases that have been assessed as being high risk in 

regards to domestic abuse has shown that the response during this period has 

continued to be reactive in nature and limited in impact. There were 18 victims that 

were referred to the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) from April 

to March. The victims discussed had 24 children between them. 8 of the adult & child 

victims experienced repeated domestic abuse which continued to be assessed as 

being high risk during this period. Despite the risk being identified as being high for the 

victim and any child in their care at the MARAC and at Child Protection Conferences 

the intervention has not been as coordinated and effective as it could be and should 

be. The domestic abuse services have not attended the majority of the Child Protection 

Conferences although domestic abuse had been identified as being the primary 

concern. When domestic abuse work was identified as an action that was formulated 

at the Child Protection Conference it invariably failed to evolve as it should and be 

progressed as the specialist services did not attend the majority of the Core Group 
90



Page 15 of 21

meetings and are not specific regarding the work that they are undertaking with the 

adult victim (their client). The SQAS manager and Community Support Officer has 

escalated the concerns and have worked very closely with the service providers to 

resolve the difficulties.

As previously reported, the ‘domestic abuse perpetrator programme’ is based in 

Leicester and costs approximately £3,000 for each individual participant. It is not 

surprising to learn that none of the perpetrators have accessed the programme whilst 

there appears to be an expectation for them to fund this themselves. There has been 

no joint funding available which is disappointing as investment in public services to 

reduce domestic violence has been cost effective for the country as a whole, 

reducing the extent of lost economic output as well as the human and emotional 

costs. The Cost of Domestic Violence by Sylvia Walby published  by Women and 

Equality Unit in 2004 is available at: 

http://www.lancs.ac.uk/fass/sociology/papers/walby-costdomesticviolence.pdf

10.Profile of Children Subject of a Child Protection Plan

Last year there was an estimated 7,765 children and young people under the age of 

18 years living in Rutland. 

In Rutland on 31st March 2018 there were very few children with a disability that 

were subject to Child Protection Plans. Children with a disability are at greater 

likelihood of experiencing significant harm than children who do not have a 

disability. 

The age profile of children subject to Child Protection Plans during 2018 -19 is as 

follows, with just over two-thirds aged between 5 and 15 years:

unborn 1 2% 

under 1 yr 2 5% 

1 to 4 yrs 10 23% 

5 to 9 yrs 14 33% 

10 to 15 yrs 15 35% 

16+ yrs     1 2% 

Total 43 100%

Note: Percentages are shown to nearest whole number. Total may not add to 100% due to 
rounding. 

91

http://www.lancs.ac.uk/fass/sociology/papers/walby-costdomesticviolence.pdf


Page 16 of 21

The gender profile of children subject to a Child Protection Plan in Rutland 

(excluding unborn) is 55% male: 45% female. 

Ethnicity of children subject to Child Protection Plans Children and young people from 

minority ethnic groups living in Rutland:

 In primary schools is 18% (the national average is 17%)

 In secondary schools is 0% (the national average is 15%)

 The largest minority ethnic group of children and young people in the area 

attending state-funded primary and secondary schools in Rutland is White 

Other (12%)

88.3% children subject to Child Protection Plans in Rutland are White British. The 

categories are shown below:

Any other White background 4

Traveller of Irish Heritage 0

White Irish 0

White British 38

Any other ethnic group 0

Information not yet obtained 1

White and Black Caribbean 0

White and Black African 0

White and Asian 0

11.Child Protection Cases Reviewed Within Timescale

The percentage of children who were the subject of a Child Protection Plan over the 

last year who had reviews carried out within the required timescales was 100%. The 

national average of 2016 -17 of 92.2%.

Review Conferences are always booked within timescales. SQAS record the reason 

for any delays or cancellations on the child’s electronic file within the child protection 

section. 

The Child Protection Conference Chair proceeds with conferences if they feel there 

is sufficient information available to make safe decisions, including there being a 
92



Page 17 of 21

social work report for conference and a social worker in attendance who has worked 

with the family or a team manager who has had oversight of the case. 

There were no children subject to a Child Protection Plan for 2 years throughout 

2017-2018. This is better than national performance.

12.Children Becoming Subject of a Child Protection Plan for a 
Second or Subsequent Time

There were no children with a repeat Child Protection plan during this period. 

The SQAS reviewed the cases of children subject to repeat Child Protection Plans in 

November 2017 to monitor improvements. Learning workshops have been facilitated 

to address the findings from last year, coupled with this the SQAS manager requests 

evidence of assessments and work completed to effect and sustain change.

Children’s Social Care have developed a multi-agency panel which considers children 

who are at risk of becoming looked after and for children who are looked after. The 

SQAS manager is a panel member and is able to share key information and to offer a 

view which is important given the independent nature of the role. The panel considers 

the history, particularly when children have been subject to a Child Protection plan for 

a second or subsequent time. Consideration is given to the length of the plan, the 

intervention provided and engagement of the child, parents and extended family to 

ensure that timely and appropriate decisions are made. 

Over the past 18 months we have seen the benefits of extended family being identified 

and involved at the earliest possible stage following concerns being raised as this 

enables them to understand the risks and to be part of the network of support and 

protection, which is less intrusive for the child and more sustainable long term.

13.Duration of a Child Protection Plan

24% of children’s Child Protection Plans concluded between 6 and 12 months, which 

is the expected time for the majority of Child Protection Plans to reach conclusion. 

14.Feedback from Conference Participants
93



Page 18 of 21

Since January 2017 feedback forms have been completed by the participants at the 

end of the conference. The majority of feedback has been positive in regards to the 

Signs of Safety model.

15.Social Work practice – ‘You Can’t Grow Roses in Concrete’ (action 

research final report Nov 2014-March 2016 Eileen Munro, Andrew Turnell 

and Terry Murphy)

Rutland previously mirrored the defensive, compliance-focussed culture that had been 

embedded in many other areas. Team cultures and practices are hard to change 

particularly when they have been established for many years and have not been 

challenged. It takes courage to break out of this mind-set, to undertake the substantial 

effort required to realign the organisation, and to develop an organisation that allows 

and supports workers to practice in a way that understands and accepts the complexity 

and uncertainty of risk decision making and management. Rutland has embraced this 

journey, albeit with a minority few who have struggled to accept the changes that were 

needed and they have received ongoing support and encouragement. Partner 

agencies have been engaged which has enabled them to achieve this transformation 

together. There has been evidence of improved outcomes for children as a result of 

the development of relationship based and creative ‘thinking out of the box’ practice. 

16.Organisational culture

At the heart of the Signs of Safety framework are three principles that need to be 

embedded in the organisational culture in order for them to be fully demonstrated in 

work with families. The three principles address key challenges of the work:

1. Working relationships are paramount. Relationships must enable honest 

and respectful discussions of concerns and worries, draw on and honour 

everything positive, consider multiple perspectives, and always incorporate 

skilful use of authority. Research shows that, irrespective of the type of 

intervention, professionals see better outcomes when there is shared 

understanding of what needs to change, agreement on purpose and goals, and 

family members feel their worker understands them. Caseloads have been 

manageable and managers that have been in post during this period support 

these principles.
94



Page 19 of 21

2. Thinking critically and maintaining a stance of critical inquiry. In order to 

minimise error, a culture of shared reflective practice and a willingness to admit 

you may be wrong are vital. Risk assessment is a core task and requires 

constant balancing of strengths and dangers to avoid the common errors of 

drifting into an overly negative or positive view of the situation. A crucial aim of 

the Signs of Safety is to improve assessment and decision making: it seeks to 

help workers move quickly and with confidence from information gathering to 

explicit analysis, judgement and then action. Slowly, but surely a major problem 

has been addressed which has enabled Rutland to move away from the 

defensive culture that removed far too many children because practitioners felt 

solely responsible for decisions and actions to make children safe. There is 

evidence of group and 1:1 supervision where critical thinking is actively 

encouraged and the ARC/CLA multi-agency panel ensures that the 

responsibility is shared in regards to any decisions that are made.

3. Grounded in everyday experience. Assessment and safety planning is 

always focussed on the everyday lived experience of the child. Service 

recipients and front line practitioners are the key arbiters of whether practice 

works or doesn’t.

17.Leadership

The Signs of Safety organisational implementation framework prioritises the creation 

of a safe environment for workers through supportive leadership as well as clear 

participatory learning. This is fundamental to reducing defensive decision making as 

well as naïve assessments, such as those found in many child death reviews. The 

leadership is risk savvy which has enabled them to be effective in addressing the 

pessimistic culture and to achieve a healthy balance. Managers at Rutland have 

continued to be actively involved in the development and delivery of learning 

workshops. Group reflective case supervision has been established which is 

supported by team managers, service managers and at times the Head of Service. 

Quality Assurance and Performance meetings are held regularly and are attended by 

managers who receive support and clear direction from senior management. The 

management team have been stable and consistent during this reporting period which 

is very positive as it enables those working within and the organisation to develop 

healthy relationships, understanding and respect of the SQAS role and 

responsibilities. 95



Page 20 of 21

18.Consistency

Signs of Safety was developed specifically for the statutory Child Protection end of 

children’s services however it has been broadened out to include other agencies and 

the Early Help Service in Rutland which is very important as it ensures that families 

receive consistent approaches that they understand and invest in as the level of 

intervention either steps up or down.

96



Page 21 of 21

19.Key Plan for 2017 – 2018

Actions Who
Qualitative and quantitative data will be collated and analysed to evidences the 

child’s ‘lived experience’.

SQAS/Performance 

Team

Children’s participation will improve and their voices will be heard. Children’s Social Care

Independent Advocacy 

Service

Partner agencies

SQAS

Holistic approach to working with families – early involvement of fathers and 

extended family.

Children’s Social Care

Partner agencies

SQAS

Signs of Safety will be embedded into practice and in the organisational culture. 

Risks will be balanced, accurately assessed and managed.

Children’s Social 

Care/RCC

Partner agencies

SQAS

Assessments will contain good analysis, decision making responsibilities will be 

shared, plans will be smart, regularly reviewed and changed when required.

Children’s Social Care

Partner agencies

SQAS

Child Protection Plans will be progressed by the family and key professionals who 

will be accountable for their individual action.

Partner agencies

Family

Timely decisions will be made and legal advice will be sought when changes are not 

being achieved within the agreed timescale.

Core Group

Children’s Social Care

Investment of resources will be made to ensure the Child Protection Conferences 

and Plans for children at risk of harm are robust and result in effective intervention.

Statutory agencies

Commissioned 

services

Voluntary agencies

Specialist Services that are commissioned by the Local Authority will prioritise Child 

Protection cases and will work in partnership with other agencies. Attendance and 

contributions will be monitored.

SQAS

Commissioners

Reports will be shared with the child and their family within the required timescales. 

Statutory Visits will be undertaken within the required timescale.

Quality Assurance will be undertaken at each Child Protection Conference.

All professionals

SQAS

Core Group Meetings will be held within the required timescales and will progress 

the actions in the Child Protection Plan.

Family

Key professionals

Workers will continue to be provided with a learning environment, opportunities and 

time to develop their relationship with families and practice.

All agencies.

There will be evidence of Management oversight, timely decision making, effective 

plans that are formulated in collaboration with families and partner agencies, 

openness to scrutiny and challenge.

All agencies

SQAS

 

97



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	9 RUTLAND COUNTY COUNCIL SAFEGUARDING THROUGH EDUCATION REPORT 2017-2018
	APPENDIX A  Safeguarding through Education 2017-18 report for Scrutiny

	10 LOCAL AUTHORITY DESIGNATED OFFICER (LADO): ANNUAL REPORT
	Appendix A - Rutland LADO Annual Report 2017 - 2018

	11 INDEPENDENT REVIEW SERVICE FOR CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER - ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
	Appendix A - Rutland IRO Annual Report 2017-18 v0 1

	12 CHILD PROTECTION SERVICE: ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
	Appendix A - Child Protection Annual Report 2017-18 v0 1


